Assessing and treating

three to twelve-year- olds

displaying

disruptive behaviour problems

Ulf Axberg





BARN- OCH UNGDOMSPSYKIATRIN

SWEDEN 2007

© Ulf Axberg Printed in Sweden Kompendiet AB Göteborg 2007 ISBN 978-91-628-7104-8 ISSN 1101-718X

ISRN GU/PSYK/AVH--187--SE

Abstract

Axberg, U. (2007). Assessing and treating three to twelve-year-olds displaying disruptive behaviour problems. Department of Psychology, Göteborg University, Sweden

The aim of this thesis was (a) to examine a Swedish version of a measure for early identification and treatment evaluation of children with disruptive behaviour problems and (b) to explore the effectiveness, in terms of reduction of children's disruptive behavioural problems, of interventions not specifically directed towards the children but to their caregivers and other adults in their immediate environment. The focus of this thesis has been on clinical applicability. However, their have been considerable advances in the knowledge of the origins, development and maintenance of disruptive behaviour in children. This has led to corresponding changes in treatment. In line with this, research on phenomenology, prevalence, etiology, treatment and assessment of children that display disruptive behaviour are presented as an introduction to the empirical studies. The aim of study I was to develop and examine a systemic school-based model for detection and early intervention among 4 to 12 year old children who displayed externalizing behaviour problems. The intervention was a combination of the Marte Meo model and Coordination meetings. Treatment effects in the group who had received the intervention (N=33) were compared with a group (N=16) who had received treatment-as-usual in their ordinary school setting. Assessments were carried out before and two years after the intervention. There was a significant decrease in children's symptoms for the intervention group, but not for the comparison group. The aim of study II was to evaluate the effectiveness of the structured parent training programme Incredible Years Series in diverse clinical settings in Sweden. Parents of 113 children aged 3 to 9 participated in the study. Pre-data were collected prior to commencement of the parent training groups and post-data immediately after the training group sessions had finished. Significant reduction was found on all symptom-related measures in parents' ratings. A significant increase in the self-rated well-being of the parents was also found. The aim of study III was to examine the psychometric properties and obtain Swedish norms for the Eyberg Child Behaviour Inventory (ECBI). Parents of 841 children aged 3 to 10 participated. The ECBI showed sound psychometric properties and seems to be a very useful measure in a Swedish context. Normative data from the Swedish sample was also presented. The aim of Study IV was to examine a three factor solution of the ECBI in a confirmatory factor analysis based on 22 items in a Swedish sample. The same sample as in study III was used. The results were consistent with the results from an American sample indicating that the 22-item version of the ECBI is a robust and useful alternative that can be used for evaluating and measuring treatment outcome. Preliminary normative data was also presented.

Key words: Disruptive Behaviour Problems, Assessment, Early intervention, Eyberg Child Behaviour Inventory (ECBI), School based model, Marte Meo, Parent training, Incredible Years Series,

Ulf Axberg, Department of Psychology, Göteborg University, Box 500 405 30 Göteborg, Swede. Phone +46 31 773 16 39, Fax: +46 31 773 46 28 E-mail: <u>ulf.axberg@psy.gu.se</u>

Acknowledgments

It has been a long journey for me to conclude my doctorial studies and to write this thesis. This journey would not have been possible without the help and support from persons close to me and I wish to express my deepest and sincere gratitude to all of them. First of all, Professor Anders Broberg, my supervisor and co-author for his never-ending encouragement, patience and scientific guidance. Professor Kjell Hansson, co-author, who made me take the step from being a confirmed clinician to the field of research by continuously asking the question: "How do you know that it works? ". Dr. Med. Sci. Ingegerd Wirtberg, co-author, for her support, warmth, wisdom and stimulating discussions. Ph.D Jan Johansson Hanse, co-author, who skilfully and patiently have explained some of the mysteries of Factor Analysis to me. Rolf Arvidsson former director of the Child and Adolescent Psychiartric Services in Skaraborg who encouraged me to commence my PH.D studies. Ph.D. Jeremy Ray for his skilful revision (often with very short notice) of my English manuscript.

I would also like to thank all the professionals that have been involved in the studies for their patience and willingness to carry out their work within the framework of the research projects. Furthermore, I would like to thank all the parents and teachers that have struggled with the not-always-so-easy-to-fill-in forms, thereby making this thesis possible.

Finally I would like to thank my family, Ulrika, Emma and Lydia for their love and support, and for reminding me of what really is important in life.

Skövde, February 2007 Ulf Axberg

List of publications

This thesis is based on the following studies which will be referred to by their Roman numerals:

Ι	Axberg, U., Hansson, K., Broberg, A.G. & Wirtberg, I. (2006) The		
	development of a systemic school-based intervention: Marte Meo and		
	coordination meetings, Family process, 45, 375-389		
Π	Axberg, U., Hansson, K. & Broberg A.G. (2007) Evaluation of the Incredible Years Series – an open study of its effects when first introduced in Sweden, <i>Nordic Journal of Psychiatry</i> , 61		
III	Axberg, U. & Broberg, A.G. (Submitted) Parents' description of conduct problems in their children – A validation and standardization of the Eyberg Child Behavior Inventory (ECBI) in a Swedish sample aged 3-10		
IV	Axberg, U, Johansson Hanse, J. & Broberg, A.G. (Submitted). A confirmatory factor analysis of Eyberg Child Behavior Inventory (ECBI) in a Swedish sample		

Table of Contents

Table of Contents	
Table of Contents	
Abbreviations	7
Introduction	
Phenomenology	9
Prevalence	
Etiology	
Treatment	
Concluding remark	
Parent rating scales	
Empirical studies	
Study I	
Aim	
Method	
Results	
Discussion	
Study II	
Aim	
Method	
Results	
Discussion	
Study III	
Aim	
Method	
Results	
Discussion	
Study IV	
Aim	
Method	
Results	
Discussion	
General discussion	
References	

Abbreviations

ADHD	Attention Deficit Hyperactivity Disorder
ASEBA	Achenbach System of Empirically Based Assessment
BMP	Behaviour Management Problems
CBCL	Child Behaviour Checklist
CD	Conduct Disorder
СМ	Coordination Meetings
COPE	Community Parent Education Program
CPB	Conduct Problem Behaviour
CPRS	Conners' Parent Rating Scale
CTRS	Conners' Teacher rating scale
DBP	Disruptive Behaviour Problems
DSM-IV	Diagnostic and Statistical Manual of Mental Disorders:4 th edition
ECBI	Eyberg Child Behaviour Inventory
ICD-10	International Classification of Mental and Behavioural Disorders:
	10 th edition
ICDP	International Child Development Programmes
InattB	Inattentive Behaviour
ITT	Intent-to-treat
IYS	Incredible Years Series
MM	Marte Meo
ODD	Oppositional Defiant Disorder
ODBTA	Oppositional Defiant Behaviour Towards Adults
SCL-90	Symptom Check List
SDQ	Strengths and Difficulties Questionnaire
SoC-13	Sense of Coherence scale - short form
TRF	Teacher's Report Form

Introduction

Disruptive behaviour problems (DBP): aggression, defiance, non-compliance, truancy or impulsiveness constitute the largest group of mental health problems in childhood and has become a major public health concern (Maughan, Rowe, Messer, Goodman, & Meltzer, 2004; Romeo, Knapp, & Scott, 2006). The children themselves suffer from these problems and so do their families, peers and others in regular contact with them. On top of the suffering caused by DBP, anti-social behaviours: truancy, stealing, robbery and drug abuse also entail huge costs to society. In a British longitudinal study Scott, Knapp, Henderson, and Maughan (2001) demonstrated that by age 28, the financial societal costs of persons with a childhood diagnosis of Conduct Disorder were 10 times higher than for persons with no registered childhood problem. In Sweden Riksdagens Revisorer (2001) has estimated the social services' costs for residential and other care of children and adolescents (most often children with severe DBP) alone to be 8 billion SEK for the fiscal year 2000. Romeo, Knapp and Scott (2006) have shown that even if the costs for society are huge, the families of children with DBP take the brunt of the economical load. The earlier the child displays disruptive behaviour problems the greater is the risk that the problems worsen and persist even into adulthood (Loeber, 1991; Moffitt, 1993). DBP has been shown to be linked to an increased risk of later mental health problems as well as social and academic problems (Hill, Coie, Lochman, & Greenberg, 2004). Moffit (2003) has demonstrated that only 15 per cent of boys who displayed severe DBP (Conduct Disorder), showed no further problems in adulthood. Hence children with DBP form a large group within the child and adolescent social and psychiatric services (Kopp & Gillberg, 2003; Lundahl, Risser, & Lovejoy, 2006). As a group children who display DBP have been considered hard to reach and treat within the child- and adolescent psychiatric services, and expectations of finding effective intervention have been low. In the last decades however, methods showing promising results have been introduced and an atmosphere of cautious optimism has begun to evolve among researchers and professionals (Rutter, Giller, & Hagell, 1998). In addition to the lack of effective interventions the fact that children with antisocial behaviour and their parents frequently drop out of treatment creates another obstacle. The drop out rate in various studies has been estimated to be as high as 45-65% (Cottrell, Hill, Walk, Dearnaley, & Ierotheou, 1988; Eresund, 1996; Gould, Shaffer, & Kaplan, 1985; Lai, Chan, Pang, & Wong, 1997; Pekarik & Stephenson, 1988). The benefits of early interventions have been demonstrated in several studies. The earlier the interventions are carried out (i.e. before the child reaches adolescence), the higher the probability for a positive outcome (Kazdin, 1987; Kazdin, Esveldt-Dawson, French, & Unis, 1987; Patterson, Debaryshe, & Ramsey, 1989; Patterson, Dishion, & Chamberlain, 1993; Webster-Stratton & Taylor, 2001). However, the high drop out rate and the fact that many children who display disruptive behaviour problems do not come in contact with the ordinary social and psychiatric services indicate a need for the development and evaluation of interventions that focus on improving children's behavior in non-clinical settings too, such as schools.

The picture drawn above indicates that early identification is important. It's also important to deliver proper interventions both to young children at risk and to their families and other important people in their lives. This puts demands on the availability of reliable measures which are easy to distribute, for screening as well as for evaluation purposes.

The goals of this thesis are to (a) explore the effectiveness, in terms of reduction of children's disruptive behavioural problems (DBP), of interventions not specifically directed towards the children but to their care givers and other adults in their immediate environment and (b) examine the psychometric properties of a Swedish version of a measure for early identification and treatment evaluation of children with DBP. The ambition is to keep a clinical focus, that is, to let the utility for professionals come to the fore. However, in recent years considerable advances have been made in the treatment of children with DBP, and these are closely linked to, or even based on, basic research. Thus, the increased knowledge of the origins, development and maintenance of DBP has brought about the tailoring of specific measures and effective interventions. In line with this, research on phenomenology, prevalence, etiology, treatment and assessment of children that display DBP are presented as an introduction to the empirical studies.

Phenomenology

Behaviour patterns that go against social norms and expectations, may cause harm to other people, and are disruptive, have been denoted in several different ways in the literature when describing child psychopathology. Categorical (as in different diagnostic manuals) as well as dimensional (i.e. externalizing behaviour problems, conduct problems, antisocial problems) approaches have been used (Fonseca & Perrin, 2001). The terms used often refer to

essentially the same construct, that is, behaviour patterns that are persistent and include oppositional, aggressive and antisocial behaviours.

In the categorical approaches, as in the diagnostic manuals of DSM-IV (American Psychiatric Association, 1994) and ICD-10 (World Health Organization, 1992), a person either fulfils the criteria for the diagnosis or not, depending on whether or not the minimum number of required symptoms are evident. The diagnoses are primarily based on the opinions of various expert committees that have, from clinical practice and research, come to an agreement regarding which criteria have to be present for a specific diagnosis. In contrast to a categorical approach which operates dichotomously, a dimensional approach operates within a continuous domain in which the symptoms are shared by everyone and described on a continuum where one can score low or high on the dimension in question. Thus, there might be large differences in the severity of the problems between children who fall below the diagnostic threshold as well as among those who fulfill the criteria. The Achenbach System of Empirically Based Assessment (ASEBA) is a widely used empirically derived, dimensional system of classification (Achenbach & Rescorla, 2001). Severe DBP is indicated by high scores on the externalizing scale, which is the sum of symptoms on the "rule-breaking behaviour" and "aggressive behaviour" syndrome scales. Another example of a welldeveloped and widely used questionnaire is the Strength and Difficulties Questionnaire (SDQ) (Goodman, 1999). The SDQ and CBCL are highly correlated (Bettge, Ravens-Sieberer, Wieteker, & Holling, 2002; Goodman & Scott, 1999). In recent years there has been some debate as to whether a dimensional or categorical approache is the most appropriate for describing psychopathology (see for instance: Brown & Barlow, 2005; Helzer, Kraemer, & Krueger, 2006; Nathan & Langenbucher, 1999; Widiger & Samuel, 2005). The categorical approach has proven to be useful and necessary when it comes to deciding whether an individual is a "case" or not, and if he or she should receive a specific treatment (i.e. cut-off points for medication) and if so from what organisation or department (i.e. psychiatric or social services). It also facilitates communications with other clinicians and researchers and has contributed to a common language across nations and cultures. Besides, by increasing the transparency of the diagnostic process the categorical system has also facilitated communication between professionals and patients (Helzer et al., 2006). However, the categorical approach also poses some serious dilemmas. One problem is the co-occurrence of different diagnosis. For many syndromes co-morbidity (the co-occurrence of distinct disorders, with different aetiology, and pathology) is the rule rather than the exception,

especially if lifetime co-morbidity is taken into account (Widiger & Samuel, 2005). Another dilemma is the debate over the borders between various diagnoses as for example between oppositional defiant, attention-deficit and conduct disorder (Widiger & Samuel, 2005). These dilemmas raise questions regarding whether the different diagnoses really reflect distinct disorders with different aetiology and pathology or if they are expressions of a latent (dimensional) structure, i.e. one underlying disorder that has been labelled in different ways.

Another dilemma is that the categorical approach is very sensitive to changes in criteria of inclusion or exclusion. Even small changes may result in large differences in for example epidemiological studies. Small discrepancies between the two systems of DSM-IV and ICD-10 may also cause differences in who will be included or excluded in a diagnostic group. An example of this is that some children, with serious disruptive behaviour problems, who receive a diagnosis according to the ICD-10, does not receive a CD or ODD diagnosis in the DSM-IV (Rowe, Maughan, Costello, & Adrian, 2005).

Diagnostic criteria for Oppositional Defiant Disorder (ODD) A. A pattern of negativistic, hostile, and defiant behaviour lasting at least 6 months, during which four (or more) of the following are present: (1) often loses temper (2) often argues with adults (3) often actively defies or refuses to comply with adults' requests or rules (4) often deliberately annoys people (5) often blames others for his or her mistakes or misbehaviour (6) is often touchy or easily annoyed by others (7) is often angry and resentful (8) is often spiteful or vindictive Note: Consider a criterion met only if the behaviour occurs more frequently than is typically observed in individuals of comparable age and developmental level. B. The disturbance in behaviour causes clinically significant impairment in social, academic, or occupational functioning. C. The behaviours do not occur exclusively during the course of a Psychotic or Mood Disorder. D. Criteria are not met for Conduct Disorder, and, if the individual is age 18 years or older, criteria are not met for Antisocial Personality Disorder. (American Psychiatric Association, 1994)

Diagnostic criteria for Conduct Disorder (CD)

A. A repetitive and persistent pattern of behaviour in which the basic rights of others or major age-appropriate societal norms or rules are violated, as manifested by the presence of three (or more) of the following criteria in the past 12 months, with at least one criterion present in the past 6 months:

Aggression to people and animals

- (1) often bullies, threatens, or intimidates others
- (2) often initiates physical fights
- (3) has used a weapon that can cause serious physical harm to others (e.g., a bat, brick, broken bottle, knife, gun)
- (4) has been physically cruel to people
- (5) has been physically cruel to animals
- (6) has stolen while confronting a victim (e.g., mugging, purse snatching, extortion, armed robbery)
- (7) has forced someone into sexual activity

Destruction of property

- (8) has deliberately engaged in fire setting with the intention of causing serious damage
- (9) has deliberately destroyed others' property (other than by fire setting)

Deceitfulness or theft

- (10) has broken into someone else's house, building, or car
- (11) often lies to obtain goods or favors or to avoid obligations (i.e., "cons" others)
- (12) has stolen items of nontrivial value without confronting a victim (e.g., shoplifting, but without breaking and entering; forgery)

Serious violations of rules

- (13) often stays out at night despite parental prohibitions, beginning before age 13 years
- (14) has run away from home overnight at least twice while living in parental or parental surrogate home (or once without returning for a lengthy period)
- (15) is often truant from school, beginning before age 13 years

B. The disturbance in behaviour causes clinically significant impairment in social, academic, or occupational functioning.

C. If the individual is age 18 years or older, criteria are not met for Antisocial Personality Disorder.

(American Psychiatric Association, 1994)

A dimensional approach may solve these dilemmas, but the complexity of understanding and communicating profile scores might instead lead to increased clinical confusion, and so new dilemmas may arise. In recent years some attempts have been made to reconcile or merge the categorical and dimensional approaches, such as the DSM-oriented scales of the ASEBA (Achenbach et al., 2003; Achenbach & Rescorla, 2000, 2001). In addition Goodman, Renfrew and Mullick (2000) have developed an algorithm based on both symptom and impact scores in the SDQ that has proven to be reliable and useful in predicting diagnostic categories. Other

attempts can be found in the ongoing process of developing DSM-V and ICD-11, where the possibility of incorporating dimensional scales in the diagnostic systems are discussed (Brown & Barlow, 2005).

DSM-oriented scales for ASEBA school-aged forms					
The available DSM oriented scales are: Affective, Anxiety, Somatic, Attention deficit/hyperactivity, Oppositional defiant and Conduct problems.					
The Oppositional Defiant Problem scale includes the items: - Argues - Defiant - Disobedient at home - Stubborn - Temper	The Conduct problems scale includes the items: - Cruel to animals - Mean - Destroys other's things - Behaves irresponsibly - Steals at home - Steals outside home - Breaks rules - Bad companions - Lies, cheats (Achenbach, D	- Runs away - Sets fires - Lacks guilt - Fights - Attacks - Swears - Threatens - Truant - Vandalism umenci, & Rescorla, 2003)			

Predicting diagnostic categories from SDQ scores				
Items that are involved in predicting (questions marked (R) are reversed):				
Conduct-oppositional disorders - Hot tempered - Obedient (R) - Fights or bullies - Lies or cheats - Steals A psychiatric disorder is probably present if the pro the impact score is two or more based on ratings f only one rater for the prediction of conduct disorder	rom two domains (the criteria can be met by			
	(Goodman, Renfrew, & Mullick, 2000)			

A dilemma in research on children who display disruptive behaviour problems (DBP) is that researchers have had difficulties in reaching consensus on how to classify different types of disruptive behaviour (Collett, Ohan, & Myers, 2003). As noted above, there are some differences in the classification of DBP within and between the two major classificatory systems DSM and ICD. Another example is that the formulation of conduct disorder has been changed in each version of DSM since DSM-II (Collett et al., 2003). In DSM-III Disruptive behaviour disorders (DBD) includes Oppositional Defiant Disorder (ODD), Conduct Disorder (CD) as well as Attention Deficit Hyperactivity Disorder (ADHD) whereas in DSM-IV severe DBD are only codified in terms of the two diagnoses CD and ODD (and DBD Not Otherwise Specified). In addition, in the DSM-IV a diagnosis of CD excludes an ODD diagnosis, whereas ODD is considered as one form of CD in ICD-10. Furthermore, a diagnosis of CD excludes an ODD diagnosis in DSM-IV whereas ODD is considered as one form of CD in ADHD combined type is high (American Psychiatric Association, 2000). Roughly half of the children and adolescents who display ADHD also meet the criteria for CD and/or ODD (Kutcher et al., 2004).

In addition, co-morbidity with disorders that do not fall in the category of disruptive behaviours is also high. In a sample of more than 10 000 5-15-year-olds Maughan and colleagues (2004) found that 36 % - 39 % of the girls who displayed DBP and 46% of the boys also met the criteria for at least one non-disruptive diagnosis. Common co-morbid problems with DBP are emotional disorders (anxiety and depression), substance abuse, tics and learning disorders and mental retardation (Kutcher et al., 2004). However, the association between CD and/or ODD and emotional disorders is complex since anxiety and depression are co-morbid within the domain of emotional disorders and thus the co-morbidity between CD and/or ODD might partly be an effect of the co-morbidity between anxiety and depression (Maughan et al., 2004).

In the present thesis the overarching description "disruptive behaviour problems" (DBP) has been used to refer to an underlying construct reflected in behaviours that (1) are directed outwards, (2) go against social rules and expectations, and (3) may be distressing or cause harm to other people. Different terms have been used in the four studies that are included in the present thesis, partly as an effect of a change in concepts over time but also because of a slight shift of focus in the author's understanding of DBP.

Prevalence

Swedish studies have shown that 6 to 12 % of all children exhibit early antisocial behaviour (Cederblad & Höök, 1991; Graff, 1999), which is in line with various studies from other countries that have revealed that 5-10 % of all children display highly persistent conduct problems (Keller, Spieker, & Gilchrist, 2005). Messer and colleagues (2006) found the prevalence for any DSM-IV disruptive behaviour disorder to be 2.4 % for girls and 6.0 for boys in a British sample of about 5900 5-10-year olds. In a study of developmental trajectories of childhood disruptive behaviour across three countries Broidy and colleagues (2003) found that 4-11 % of the boys and 0-10 % of the girls followed a chronic physical aggression trajectory. The prevalence of DBP has even been estimated to be as high as 19 % among preschool children (Eyberg & Pincus, 1999). The picture is somewhat unclear regarding whether there are any changes in prevalence. While some meta analyses indicate that the prevalence is rising (Rutter et al., 1998) others points out that there seem to have been no changes in prevalence during the last decades (Andershed & Andershed, 2005) One reason for the difficulties in obtaining a consistent pattern has to do with methodological issues such as inconsistencies of definitions between different studies and over time.

In their extensive review Rutter, Giller and Hagell (1998) concluded that there seemed to be no gender difference in the prevalence of oppositional, defiant behaviour (ODD) in young children. However more recent studies have found that boys were diagnosed with ODD at least twice as often as girls (Maughan et al., 2004; Messer et al., 2006). Also this inconsistency might in part be an effect of methodological variants in different studies. Messer and colleagues (2006) reported that there was no significant gender difference in parent ratings but that there was a salient difference in teacher ratings. ODD is often a precursor of the more severe behaviour of Conduct Disorder (CD). Whereas the prevalence of ODD declines in late childhood CD becomes more common. This might be an effect of the fact that a DSM-IV CD diagnosis excludes an ODD diagnosis. Maughan and colleagues (2004) found in their study of more than 10000 5 to 15 year olds that the prevalence of ODD was stable among girls as well as boys (1.8 % and 4.6 respectively) when ODD was diagnosed regardless of a CD diagnosis. CD is rare in younger ages. The rate increases steadily with age among boys from around five years of age, whereas the prevalence among girls is stable until early adolescence when it increases (Maughan et al., 2004). CD occurs at least twice as often among boys as among girls, but the gender difference diminishes in late adolescence (Rutter et al., 1998).

The prevalence of Attention-deficit/hyperactivity disorder (ADHD) among children and adolescents is estimated to be 3-5 % (Kutcher et al., 2004). The occurrence is between three to six times higher among boys than girls (Gaub & Carlson, 1997). The behaviours of ADHD (i.e. inattention, restlessness, hyperactivity, and impulsiveness) are often persistent and associated with antisocial behaviour (Taylor, 1994). These behaviours are frequently already present in the preschool years.

All in all disruptive behaviour problems in childhood seem to be three to four times more common among boys than girls (Kratzer & Hodgins, 1997; Messer et al., 2006). However, the prevalence among girls might be underestimated as a consequence of the fact that symptoms often shown by girls not are included in the criteria for different forms of DBP (Rutter et al., 1998). DBP is linked to overt direct aggressive behaviour which is more common among boys, while girls might express more indirect relational aggressive behaviour which nonetheless still constitutes norm-breaking disruptive behaviour (Andershed & Andershed, 2005). In addition Zoccolillo, Trembly and Vitario (1996) have suggested that to increase the sensitivity of the CD diagnosis a lower threshold of inclusion criteria should be used for girls.

Etiology

Aggression is the strongest predictor of disruptive behaviour and later delinquency (Andershed & Andershed, 2005) and is thus very closely linked to disruptive behaviour. Aggression and fighting are however, part of normal child development and can help children assert and defend themselves. Pro-social forms of aggressive behaviour may in several social contexts like sports, business, research etc even serve a normative function (Tremblay, 2000). Aggressive behaviour is common in early childhood and physical aggression reaches its peak at the age of two (Alink et al., 2006; Koops & Orobio de Castro, 2004). By the age of 17 months, the vast majority of children display aggressive behaviours toward adults, siblings and peers (Tremblay et al., 2004). One explanation of the relatively high level of physical aggression in children at this age may be the combination of the child's increased expression of autonomy and enhanced mobility on the one hand, and parents becoming less accepting and more limit setting on the other (Campbell, 2002).

While there is no difference in the amount of physical aggression between 12 month old girls and boys, boys display more physical aggression at the ages of 24 and 36 months (Alink et al., 2006). Most children show an apparent decline in physical aggression from the age of four. By that age the amount of indirect aggression increases and verbal expressions of aggression become more common (Alink et al., 2006; Koops & Orobio de Castro, 2004). The comorbidity of persistent aggressive behaviour with other problems such as impulsivity and hyperactivity are very high in young children and often reflects more general difficulties with behavioural control and emotion regulation (Calkins, 1994; Rubin, Burgess, Dwyer, & Hastings, 2003). Thus many researchers include aggressive behaviour within a broader class of antisocial behaviour (Coie & Dodge, 1998), even though this is debatable (see for example: Koops & Orobio de Castro, 2004; Tremblay, 2000). Persistent physical aggressive behaviour in childhood has proven to be a distinct predictor of serious delinquency in adolescence, when oppositional behaviour and hyperactivity has been controlled for (Nagin & Tremblay, 1999).

Thus it becomes important to asses levels of aggression as well as to follow aggressive behaviour over time to examine different patterns of aggressive behaviour. In a longitudinal study four different developmental trajectories of physical aggression among boys from 6 to 15 years old were outlined: one small group who displayed a persistent high level of physical aggression, one group who initially displayed a high level of physical aggression which declined to a moderate level, a group who showed moderate levels of physical aggression in their early years where physical aggression was practically non-existent in adolescence and finally a group who displayed hardly any physical aggression at any time (Nagin & Tremblay, 1999). Recent research has displayed patterns of three to five different trajectories that are consistent with this research (see for instance: Broidy et al., 2003; Campbell, Spieker, Burchinal, & Poe, 2006). The developmental trajectories of physical aggression for girls are similar to those of boys (Broidy et al., 2003; Schaeffer et al., 2006). There are however some inconsistencies between different studies. Whereas Broidy and colleagues (2003) found that the mean level of aggression was consistently lower for girls than for boys, Shaeffer and colleagues (2006) found no differences in the levels and increase in aggression and disruptive behaviour between boys and girls in the group with persistently high levels of aggression and disruptive behaviour. The differences between the studies might be an effect of the inclusion of disruptive behaviour (in addition to aggressive behaviour) in the latter study and characteristics of the different samples. The sample of Broidy and colleagues came mainly from new Zeeland and Canada whereas Shaffer and colleagues' sample came from American urban neighbourhoods characterized by high levels of violent crime. Campbell and colleagues (2006) found that a model with five trajectories best fitted their data. In addition to the trajectories described above they also found a trajectory of persistent aggression at a stable and moderate level. Whereas children of the stable aggression trajectory were at risk of developing antisocial behaviour and poor peer relationships, children of the moderate stable aggression were more at risk of developing inattention and impulsivity behaviour problems rather than oppositional behaviour. It is also noteworthy that while even low levels of persistent aggression might indicate an increased risk of internalizing and externalizing behaviour problems, young children who display moderate levels of aggression that vanishes in the early school ages show no elevated risk for later problems.

The development of disruptive behavior problems is a very complex process involving the interplay between individual factors and those related to the child's immediate and greater environment. Whereas biological models of aggression as the psychoanalytic (Freud, 1980) and the phylogenetic (Lorenz, 1966) emphasizes that human aggression is inherited and that children need to learn to control it to prevent self-destruction, advocates of the social learning theory maintain that aggression and antisocial behaviour is learnt from observing and imitating others and from what behaviours become reinforced by the environment (Bandura, 1977). Today there is broad agreement that the development of disruptive behaviour is best understood within a transactional model in which genetic, psychological and social factors interact (Sameroff, 1983, 2006).

Individual factors – The importance of genes in the development of human behaviours like aggression and disruptive behaviour has undergone a transition from a period in the 1950s of extreme environmentalism to a period around 1980 where influences from the environment were considered as practically non-existent to the present view, starting to evolve in the beginning of the 1990s, with an emphasis on the importance of gene-environment interaction (Rutter, Moffitt, & Caspi, 2006). The latter view is based on research which has convincingly demonstrated that most disorders have a multi-factorial etiology and that genetic as well as environmental risk factors are probabilistic rather than deterministic. Besides the notion that genetic effect operate through gene expression, i.e. epigenetic mechanisms, has lead researchers to abandon the deterministic perspective of genetic effects (Rutter, Moffitt et al.,

2006). Thus the search for specific genes "for" psychiatric disorders does not, on the whole, seem to be a fruitful path to pursue.

With the concept of gene-environment interplay no fixed level of heritability exists. Rather heritability becomes an expression of how much a genetic factor accounts for the variation of a trait shown in a particular population at a particular point of time (Rutter, Moffitt et al., 2006). While the hereditability of antisocial behaviour has been found to be about 50 %, the evidence points in the direction that the main effect comes from gene-environment interplay rather than from a specific genetic risk factor (Rutter, Moffitt et al., 2006). The interplay between genes and environment may influence hereditability in several different ways. The environment may trigger or compensate genetic vulnerability. Furthermore, the environment may increase or, by restricting the opportunities of different outcomes, decrease the effect of a genetic influence (Rutter, Moffitt et al., 2006). Besides, the genetic influence may affect a child's behaviour in a direction that evokes different behaviours from their closest environment. Thus, a child who displays disruptive behaviour may elicit negative behaviours from others. (i.e. parents, peers teachers) that will shape his or her behaviour in an increasingly antisocial direction. Accordingly the child may select environments that expose him or her to greater risk and that reinforce the already existing antisocial behaviours (Nigg, 2006; Rutter, Kim-Cohen, & Maughan, 2006).

The child's temperament is an aspect that has been addressed in understanding the development of aggression and antisocial behaviours (Farrington, 2005; Nigg, 2006; Webster-Stratton & Taylor, 2001). Temperament and personality have been considered as two different domains where "temperament" has been used to describe constitutionally based behaviours in the child and "personality" has been used to describe the more complex behaviours of adults. However, in recent years these terms have been empirically and conceptually more integrated, and temperament is now frequently regarded as the childhood equivalent of personality (Farrington, 2005; Nigg, 2006). From being very low in the neonatal period the heritability of temperament increases during childhood to moderate levels. Hence, temperamental traits are relatively stable within context but not uninfluenced by environment and as heritable as most measures of psychopathological behaviours (Nigg, 2006). Temperamental traits of special interest with regard to the development of disruptive behaviour are those related to aspects of attention, impulsiveness, and negative emotionality (frustration intolerance and being "hot-tempered"). Impulsiveness has been pointed out as the most important temperamental trait

that predicts antisocial behaviour (Farrington, 2005). As early as the 1950s Stella Chess and Alexander Thomas (Thomas, Chess, Birch, Hertzig, & Korn, 1963) described three different temperament types in young children; the easy (i.e. regular habits, happy, calm sleep), difficult (i.e. irregular habits, often irritable and low adaptability and difficult to console) and slow-to-warm up (i.e. inhibited, vigilant rather than curious in unknown situations). Children with a difficult temperament put higher demands on the parents' parenting skills and abilities to meet the special needs of the child. In their longitudinal study Chess and Thomas (1984) found that difficult temperament was a risk factor for disruptive behaviour. However it has been difficult to replicate this study. One reason is that the definition of "difficult temperament" was not distinct enough (Farrington, 2005; Nigg, 2006). Since this pioneering study, different temperamental models have been developed. Today, a broad agreement is emerging around 3 to 5 factor temperamental models. Nigg (2006) suggests that there are two distinct temperamental pathways to conduct disorders in children. One is accompanied by increased risk of later unsocialized aggressive conduct disorder that follows a route of "low withdrawal" (especially low fear), "low affiliation" (low empathy, low pro-social tendencies), weak reactivity to potential punishment, high aggression and impulsivity. Another route which also may lead to conduct problems follows a temperamental route of "high approach" (willingness to approach possible reward or reinforcement) accompanied with "high negative affect", "average fear" and low "effortful control" (the ability to voluntarily inhibit or initiate behaviour processes and to focus and shift attention). The child who follows this route may be so sensation and reward seeking that he or she infringes social laws and elicits negative behaviours from others and thus constantly engages in negative interplay with others. Interestingly, Nigg also suggests two distinct temperamental pathways to ADHD in children. One pathway that follows a route of "low effortful control", especially in the domain of inattention – disorganization, another that follows a route of "high approach" especially in the domain of hyperactivity-impulsivity. The common temperamental trait of "high approach" between the second types of conduct disorder and ADHD respectively, may contribute to the high co-morbidity between these disorders.

Other individual risk factors are low IQ and school achievement (Farrington, 2005). Children who display disruptive behaviour often lack social skills and exhibit less prosocial behaviour. They also attend to fewer cues from the environment and interpret those cues differently than do non-aggressive children (i.e. overestimate peers' aggressiveness and underestimate their own) (Kendall, 2000). This might in the long run lead to an escalation of aggressive

behaviour. Prenatal exposure to toxins i.e. tobacco, alcohol, lead or narcotics has also been associated with the development of antisocial behaviour (Granic & Patterson, 2006). Finally gender is also a risk factor since to be born a boy increases the risk in itself (Farrington, 2005).

Immediate environment –Attachment theory (Bowlby, 1969/1982) and social learning theory (Bandura, 1977; Granic & Patterson, 2006) are two major theories that have been used to understand the development of DBP. Both theories have illuminated how daily repeated parent-child interactions at a micro-level form patterns of interaction that over time may contribute to the development of DBP, hence both theories emphasize the contribution of transactional as well as developmental aspects (Shaw & Bell, 1993).

In the early 1940's John Bowlby, who would later become one of the originators of attachment theory, concluded that the development of a delinquent character must be understood from genetic, social, economic and psychological perspectives (Bowlby, 1944b). One of the risk factors that he identified, in his pioneering study of forty-four juvenile thieves, was the children's experience of a prolonged separation from a primary care-giver early in life, which Bowlby considered to be an important aetiological factor in the development of an affectionless character (Bowlby, 1944a, 1944b). In his study he made a distinction between a group of delinquent boys who at an early stage in childhood showed an affectionless character and a group who did not display delinquent behaviours until in adolescence. He concluded that while the former group was closely connected to persistent delinquent behaviour. This distinction is strikingly similar to the more recent description of "early-starters" and "life course persistent" vs. "late starters" or "adolescence limited antisocial behaviour" (Moffitt, 2003; Patterson, Capaldi, & Bank, 1991).

Research based on attachment theory has focused on the development of internal working models (IWMs) in the child (Bretherton, 1991). From the interaction with early care-givers the child develops generalized expectations on how he or she will be met by others in different situations. Based on these early experiences he or she will construct IWMs of whether or not he or she will be, or even if he or she deserves to be, comforted and taken care of when signalling distress. An insecure attachment does not in it self give rise to disruptive behaviour problems, but it significantly increases the risk (Greenberg, 1999; Greenberg,

Speltz, DeKlyen, & Jones, 2001). An insecure-avoidant attachment pattern has proven to increase the risk that the child follows a trajectory of persistent high disruptive behaviour problems (Keller et al., 2005). Children with insecure-avoidant attachment who have been neglected or rejected by their primary caregivers may have developed IWMs of distrust, anger and resentment, and they do not expect support or comfort from their closest environment. Rather they expect to be met by negative behaviours and thus they judge others' behaviours as hostile which in turn might lead to an aggressive response. This attributional bias in social interactions may lead to a situation where the children get caught in a negative interplay with their closest environment leading to an escalation of disruptive behaviour.

Bowlby (1944b) has described how a parent and child may be trapped in a vicious circle in which negative interaction between child and parent bring forth an escalation of anger and aggression.

"If a child's mother is irritable, critical and nagging, the unnecessary interference and frustration which results will in many children call forth excessive anger and aggression. Frustration will also increase greed both for affection and for tokens of affection. In this way aggression and greed can be pathologically stimulated in early childhood, and moreover these antisocial impulses will be directed especially against the frustrating and irritable mother. Thus a vicious circle is set up - the mother being hostile to the child, the child paying his mother back in the same coin and the mother then haying further grounds for irritation and anger." (Bowlby, 1944b, p.114)

Another model that has been proposed to explain the link between disruptive behaviour and attachment is that disruptive behaviour may serve as an attachment strategy by way of getting the parents attention and/or to control the parent's behaviour. This might work as a tool for the child to regulate the caregivers' behaviour when no other attachment strategy has proven effective to obtain assuagement when aroused (Greenberg, Speltz, & DeKlyen, 1993).

Disorganised attachment, where the child does not show any organized behavioural strategy in relation to his primary caregiver(s), has predicted persistent DBP in several studies (Greenberg, 1999; Greenberg et al., 2001; Lyons-Ruth, 1996). A child with disorganized attachment may show conflicting, incomplete, and/or apprehensive behaviours towards the

parent(s) since he/she is the child's source of comfort and the source of fear at the same time (Lyons-Ruth & Jacobvitz, 1999).

Keller and colleagues (2005) found no support for the claim that disorganised attachment predicts disruptive behaviour. The authors suggest however that this might be explained by the fact that children in their study were younger (2 to 4.5 yrs) and that disorganized behaviour becomes more salient in the preschool period. Another intriguing explanation suggested by the authors is that children with avoidant attachment may have a low tolerance for stress which may lead to a more pronounced negative response to high risk contexts, a reaction pattern that in part resembles the second pathway to conduct problems suggested by Nigg (2006).

An authoritarian model of parenting, especially if this also features threats and violence is another risk factor (Farrington, 2005; Thompson, Hollis, & Richards, 2003). Even though girls are less exposed to physical punishment than boys, it seems as if the association between this risk factor and disruptive behaviour problems is stronger among girls (Messer et al., 2006). Other parenting styles which constitute increased risk are inconsistent limit-setting, poor monitoring, poor parental responsiveness to the child, lack of warmth, inappropriate developmental expectations and parental reinforcement of disruptive behaviour (Campbell, 2002; Farrington, 2005; Snyder, Cramer, Afrank, & Patterson, 2005; Webster-Stratton & Taylor, 2001). At the Oregon Social Learning Centre, Patterson and colleagues have described child-parent relationships in families where children develop disruptive behaviour problems and developed methods for working with these relationships (Patterson, 1974). A central idea in this theory is the concept of "the coercive circle" (Patterson & Bank, 1989). The term coercion denotes the use of aversive or disruptive behaviours to obtain short-term control over another person. It describes in short a process in which a destructive interplay between the child and his/her parents escalates and is reinforced by the child being given attention when he/she shows defiance and disobedience. The parent and the child get caught in a trap where the child's behaviour is reinforced when the parent gives in or complies, and the parents' behaviour is negatively reinforced when the child brings the aversive behaviour to an end. Whereas the original coercion model was more strictly based on operant principles, thus focusing on unidirectional processes, Patterson and colleagues at the Oregon social learning centre have stressed the bidirectional (circular) nature stemming from a process where the child and parent behaviours become mutually reinforced and thus they both become trained to be coercive (Granic & Patterson, 2006). They also accentuate how, according to a dynamic systems approach, the reoccurring episodes in real time also affects the cognitiveemotion structures that are the basis for long term development of personality patterns (Granic & Patterson, 2006). Patterson and colleagues (1992) conclude that the child's coercive behaviour is likely to generalize to other social settings, thus it may increase the likelihood of peer rejection and academic failure.

Parental delinquency, antisocial behaviour, substance abuse, as well as parental psychiatric disorder, parental discord and domestic violence all bring about an increased risk for the development of severe disruptive behaviour (Erath, Bierman, & Conduct Problems Prevention Research Group, 2006; Farrington, 2005; Lagerberg & Sundelin, 2000; Scott, 2002). Parental psychiatric disorder is a risk factor if it leads to poor parenting (Rutter & Quinton, 1994). An example could be when a primary caregiver is depressed and thus has lower responsiveness to the child signals. If the child experiences that he or she is not responded to, when signalling distress, she or he may construct IWMs according to which (a) what she or he feels, thinks or does is of no value (for others) and (b) she or he does not expect to be comforted or taken care of when distressed. Thus the child does not seek inter personal assuagement, rather she or he distrusts other people and may attribute their behaviours negatively leading to a propensity to respond with disobedience and aggression. Hence the risk of a negative interaction pattern increases.

Serious parental discord may increase the risk of disruptive behaviour since there is the double risk that the child (a) learns fewer pro-social skills and (b) that the parents become models of antisocial conflict solving strategies. Thus the child learns to respond to intrapersonal conflicts with aggression and this behaviour may generalize to several intrapersonal contexts (i.e. school, peers) (Scott, 2002). Parental separation and single parent families have also been associated with increased risk. However there is evidence to suggest that it is not so much the divorce in itself that is the predictor but the parental conflicts that lead to the separation (Farrington, 2005).

Greater environment - One characteristic of post-modern society is the double socialization of children (Bäck-Wiklund & Bergsten, 1997), which implies that the education and socializing of children and young people is a responsibility shared between the family and the school systems. It is essential that the two primary systems of the double socialization can

co-exist in a way that does not confuse the child too much with too many contradicting messages regarding expectations on his/her behavior. Thus it is important that the adults from the family and school system meet and share their thoughts and expectations. Thus a poor connection between the child's school and her/his family is a risk factor (Webster-Stratton & Taylor, 2001). Other risk factors related to the school situation that have been identified are: low emphasis on promotion of children's' social and emotional development, high pupil-teacher rate, teachers exhibiting ineffective classroom managing skills, if the child is rejected by peers, if the child experiences academic failure and spends too much time in company with deviant peers (Webster-Stratton & Reid, 2003, 2004).

Low socioeconomic status and living in a neighbourhood of poverty and danger, high risk of individual exposure to violence or victimization and deviant peers are other risk factors in the child's greater environment (Farrington, 2005; Ingoldsby, 2002). Even if it has not yet been possible to establish whether the neighbourhood has a direct or indirect impact on the development of antisocial behaviour, the evidence of the association between neighbourhood contextual factors and antisocial behaviour is modest but firm (Ingoldsby, 2002). There is also a higher risk of associating with deviant peers in a poor and dangerous neighbourhood. Two developmental processes result in risk exposure. Interaction with peers during the pre- and elementary school ages may establish a pattern of negative interaction and consequently peer-rejection. Later in adolescence affiliation with deviant peers may result in a "deviancy training" process, i.e. talk of deviant topics, learning and imitating deviant behaviours from antisocial peers etc. (Snyder, Schrepferman et al., 2005). Living in a low SES neighbourhood also increases the risk of attending high delinquency schools where there is a palpable mistrust between teachers and students and th students commitment to school is poor (Farrington, 2005).

A risk factor may in itself be of little importance for the development of disruptive behaviour. However, the more risk factors that are present, the greater the risk for the development of severe disruptive behaviour (Farrington, 2000). The effect of several risk factors is, however not additive but rather accumulative (Keller et al., 2005), especially if there is a combination of different risk factors at different levels (Andershed & Andershed, 2005). Furthermore there seems to be no difference between girls and boys with regard to the effects of exposure to most family and social risk factors, but boys were more exposed to neurodevelopmental risk and displayed less prosocial behaviour and thus showed more peer problems (Messer et al., 2006).

Resilience and protective factors can work as moderators and mediators of vulnerability and risk. Thus it becomes important in developmental psychopathology to examine the combination of risk and protective factors (Keller et al., 2005). Well developed problemsolving and communication skills, a healthy androgyny, capacity to elicit positive attention from others, a sense of autonomy combined with the ability to ask for help when needed and at least average intelligence are some of the factors that in various studies have been found in resilient children (Werner, 2000). It has been suggested that girls' earlier development of prosocial skills and cognitive maturity serves as a protective factor that may explain some of the differences between boys and girls with regard to prevalence (Messer et al., 2006). The possibility of establishing a stable, close, caring and supporting relationship with at least one person in the first year of life, if not with the parent then with some alternative caregiver such as grandparents or older siblings has also proved to be of importance (Werner, 2000). A secure attachment has consistently proven to be a protective factor, in high- as well as low risk contexts (Keller et al., 2005). A securely attached child is probably more motivated than an insecurely attached child to behave in accordance with the caregiver's rules and requests (Richters & Waters, 1991). The child also displays more pro social behaviours, which also facilitates the socialization process and this is important since most disruptive behaviours include elements of antisocial behaviour which may stem from deficits in the early socialization process. Other protective factors in the child's immediate or greater environment are that their help is required (it is as protective to provide care to a sibling as to receive it), some form of faith that gives a sense of meaning to life, one or more close friends, being appreciated by peers, scholastic achievement in line with their own capacity, a favourite teacher - or other adult (Antonovsky, 1991; Werner, 2000). Again it is important to note the interplay between vulnerability, risk, resilience and protective factors. A protective factor my be of very limited value when no risk is apparent but might be extremely important in a highrisk condition (Keller et al., 2005).

Treatment

Treatment of children with disruptive behaviour follows different lines. Treatment models that have their roots in biological/psychiatric models focus on genetics or ways of learning to

control aggression, whereas sociopsychiatric /psychopedagogical models emphasize the interplay between the child and her/his closer or greater environment. Thus medication can be an important part in the former treatment models whereas the latter models focus on interventions aiming to alter the interplay between the child and others. Although medication has been shown to be an important part of treatment as shown in one of the largest treatment studies (MTA Cooperative Group, 1999), the present thesis focuses on sociopsychiatric and psychopedagogical models of treatment. The main reason for this is that medication is most clearly indicated in the treatment of ADHD, whereas the primary focus of the present thesis is disruptive behaviour disorders (ODD and CD).

The treatment of children with disruptive behaviour problems dates back to the beginning of the 20-th century at least. As a consequence of industrialism there were large social changes in most Western societies. People moved from rural areas to towns and cities and with this followed the breakdown of social networks. In many families both parents had to work and since their natural support system no longer was available, children were left on their own. As a consequence poverty, vagrancy and delinquency among children and adolescents became a growing problem (Eresund, 1999). These social changes coincided with a growing concern among the liberal middle class about the children of the poor. Ideas that not only the parents, but society at large had a responsibility in the socialization of children started to spread, and the psychoanalytic theory gave a rational for how the children should be handled and treated (Eresund, 1999). During the 1920's and 30's pioneering counselling services concerning the upbringing and psychiatric treatment of children were started in Sweden. The target groups of these services were the deprived and delinquent children. Bowlby (1944a) described how delinquent children and youths, in England, were referred to a Child Guidance Clinic from schools, parents, probation officers an courts. Also in the USA Child Guidance Clinics had started as a response to the needs of local social authorities (Eresund, 1999). Thus the origins of the child and adolescent psychiatric services to a large extent can be found in this sociopsychiatric tradition. In the beginning the services offered were mainly counselling and parental support (Carlberg, 1997). Psychoanalysis offered a theory and method for the treatment of children. Child psychotherapy became the intervention of choice for children who displayed disruptive behaviour problems (Lundahl et al., 2006). Individual treatment, based on the ideas of Margaret Lowenfeld, Anna Freud and Melanie Klein, became more common in Sweden during the 40's and 50' (Eresund, 1999). However, several therapists experienced the treatment of the children with severe behavioural problems to be difficult and

non-successful (Carlberg, 1997; Eresund, 1999) Bowlby, concluded that the major shortcoming of the psychoanalytic approach was that the child was thought of almost as a closed psychological system and that therapists did not take the child's environment into consideration (van Dijken, 1998). These experiences, in combination with the fact that parents of children with emotional rather than behavioural problems began to seek help, seem to have contributed to a new policy in the child and adolescent care services. As a result of this these services came to work more with anxiety and other neurotic disorders and less with children with severe DBP (Eresund, 1999).

In 1947 a treatment home for psychopathic children called Skå opened in Stockholm, Sweden (Jonsson, 1973). It should be remembered that the term psychopath had a different meaning in the 40's than today (Eresund, 1999). Besides, the term psychopathic was never accepted by the employees at Skå (Jonsson, 1973). The aim was that Skå should be a treatment home for the children who were the most difficult to handle and to treat in other settings. However even in the preliminary plans, before the clinic was opened, Gustav Jonsson concluded that to be successful, treatment of the child had to involve the parents too (Jonsson, 1973). First of all the parents might need treatment of their own, secondly there was a need for "parent education". The parent education at Skå involved several elements such as:

- *pedagogical* learning how to help the children with their homework, how to play with the children and how to get appropriate toys
- practical home care cooking, practical advice on how to take care of children
- *connecting* one aim was to make the parents take a more active part in hobbies, travelling, and to attend various courses to break the families' isolation
- *problem solving* helping the parents to handle problems and conflicts with neighbours, relatives, school personnel, and different authorities more effectively

One fundamental principle in the parent treatment/education was that the parents should be treated and considered as fellow workers, not as clients or patients. This implicated that the staff had to look for the resources of the parents and to empower them in their parenting, rather than to look for their deficits and short-comings (Jonsson, 1973).

Within the child and adolescent psychiatric services there was also a growing concern that parents should be involved when working with children. Bowlby addressed the importance of

meeting the child's both parents in the preparatory interview as early as in the late 40's (van Dijken, 1998). Bowlby also accentuated the utility of "family interviews" in which the family members were interviewed together so that tensions between family members could be discussed and managed openly, thus facilitating a process of a reorientation in the family (van Dijken, 1998). It's interesting to note that Bowlby published a paper on this approach as early as 1949 (Bowlby, 1949). However the time was not ripe for this major shift in approach, and consequently the paper "sank without a trace" (van Dijken, 1998).

In the early years, from the 40's, the treatment in Sweden was probably most influenced by the therapeutic methods of Anna Freud (Eresund, 1999). Anna Freud, in contrast to Melanie Klein, emphasized the need for involving the parents in the treatment. However this meant that the parents had counselling and therapeutic session with a therapist (often a social worker) parallel to the child-therapy.

In the 60's and 70's direct interventions with parents became more common within the social and child and adolescent services (Lundahl et al., 2006). In Sweden, like in many other countries, this was also the time when family-therapy made its entry into the world of child and adolescent psychiatric treatment (Hansson, 2001). The pioneering family therapists: Virginia Satir, Salvador Minuchin, Martin Kerchenbaum among others came from the USA and held courses and gave workshops in Family therapy in Sweden. Several Swedish therapists also went to London and took part in the training of Tony Manocchio and colleagues (i.e Bill Petitt, Ingegerd Wirtberg). Today family therapy has become one of the most common treatment methods in the child and adolescent psychiatric services (Carlberg, 1997). From having its roots in communication and general systems theory (Watzlawick, Beavin Bavelas, & Jackson, 1967) the early family therapists where more influenced by the structural (Minnuchin, Montalvo, Guerney, Rossman, & Schumer, 1967) and strategic (Haley & Hoffman, 1967) approaches. In the last two decades methods based on the "second order cybernetics", with its roots in social constructivism has emerged (Hoffman, 1981). In the Language systems approaches the narratives of the individuals are emphasized (Andersen, 1995; Anderson & Goolishian, 1992; White & Epston, 1990). Change is brought about by therapeutic conversations that broaden the narratives of the individuals and thus enable the person to experience different feelings and thoughts, and to gain new knowledge.

When a child is described as having disruptive behaviour a problem-affirmative system of communicative behaviour often develops around the child. The Marte Meo method is a treatment method that has been created in order to help children and adults to restore and build a supportive dialogue when their communication has been marked by perturbation and disturbances. Marte meo (MM) was developed in the Netherlands by Maria Aarts (Aarts, 1996, 2000) in the 1980s and has become widely used in Scandinavia, Germany and Switzerland (Hedenbro & Wirtberg, 2000; Øvreeide & Hafstad, 1996). MM is based on the idea that children develop and grow in interaction with supportive adults. The assumption is that there is a prototype for developmental supportive dialogue which provides the child with relevant information and support needed in different stages of the child's development (Aarts, 2000; Øvreeide & Hafstad, 1996). Using a short (five to ten minute) video recording of the child interacting with his/her parent or teacher the MM-therapist analyses the interplay of a number of developmental principles inherent in the model. The therapist then chooses some video sequences to review and discuss with the adult. The aim of the discussion is to help the adult to see the supportive needs of the child thereby stimulating him/her to modify his/her behaviour in a way that will promote the child's development. Finally the adult is given the task to practice these new behaviours in daily situations. During the next recording and reviewing, feedback is obtained regarding whether the previous intervention has been helpful and is leading towards the desired goal. Despite the fact that MM is very popular, no studies of its effectiveness as a treatment for conduct problems have been published (based on a search for "Marte meo" in databases "Pub Med" (www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/PubMed/) and "PsycInfo" (www.apa.org/psycinfo)). One study using a similar method (The Orion method) has however shown promising results (Weiner, Kuppermintz, & Guttman, 1994).

To protect children and promote health, interventions should target many different domains of the children's lives (Chronis, Chacko, Fabiano, Wymbs, & Pelham, 2004; Leffert et al., 1998; Webster-Stratton & Taylor, 2001). A consequence of the double socialization of children is that it becomes important to develop school based interventions as a complement to the interventions delivered in clinical contexts (Scott, 2002). Besides, school-based interventions offer a chance to help children with disruptive problems that will not come in contact with ordinary social and psychiatric services. However, when developing school-based interventions the link between home and school should be addressed (Christensen & Conoley, 1992; Christensen & Sheridan, 2001; Walker, Colvin, & Ramsey, 1995). It is essential that the two primary systems of the double socialization can co-exist in a way that do not confuse

the child too much because of contradicting messages about expectations regarding his/her behaviour. Thus it is important that the adults from the family and school system meet and share their thoughts and expectations. This collaborative problem-solving, involving parent(s), teachers and school psychologists, has been shown to be effective both for the child's academic performance and for the child's social and behavioural progress (Christensen & Sheridan, 2001). The use of Coordination meetings (CM) is a way of addressing this issue (Wirtberg & Axberg, 2006). In CM contextual markers (Petitt & Olson, 1992) are used to clarify the context in which the interventions takes place. To explore parents' and teachers' different "stories" about the child, and to co-construct new stories approaches permitted by post-modern constructivist theories and methods such as "reflecting" process (Andersen, 1987, 1995; Wirtberg & Axberg, 2006) and "open dialogue" (Seikkula, 1996; Seikkula, Arnkil, & Eriksson, 2003; Wirtberg & Axberg, 2006), can be utilized.

In general, evaluation of treatment effects was, for many decades rare (Kazdin, 1994). The first publication of evaluations of child and adolescent psychotherapy occurred at the end of the 1950's and the first results indicated that there were no differences between children who had received therapy and those who had not (Kazdin, 1994). During the following years however more studies were published which questioned the results of the initial study and demonstrated that psychotherapy seemed to be better than no therapy, and that the results for children and adolescents were well in line with the those for adults (Kazdin, 1994). Even though more studies were published, the evaluation of treatment effects regarding disruptive behaviour problems continued to be meagre and the results were poor. Bowlby, for example published a paper in as early as 1944 in which he described the difficulties in treating juvenile thieves. He concluded that for the affectionless character diagnosis and treatment should be carried out preferably before the child was three years old, and at least before he or she was five, to optimize the chances of a successful treatment (Bowlby, 1944b). Pessimism about the possibility to reach and treat children with disruptive behaviour was widespread among researchers and clinicians (Rutter et al., 1998). During the last two decades, however, pessimism has been turned into cautious optimism since more studies have been published showing promising results (Rutter et al., 1998). Literature reviews and meta-analyses have shown that structured parent-training programmes are the most effective way of treating young children with disruptive behaviour problems (Brestan & Eyberg, 1998; Kazdin, 1997; Scott, 2002). Several of the parent training programmes are delivered in the group format. However in a recent meta-analysis Lundahl and colleagues (Lundahl et al., 2006) found that

families with low SES benefited more from individually delivered parent training programmes. For older children and adolescents Functional Family therapy (FFT: Alexander, 1998) and Multidimensional Treatment Foster Care (MTFC: Chamberlain & Reid, 1991) have proven to be effective and even met the high standards of the Blueprint programme (Elliott, 1999). Multi Systemic Therapy (MST: Henggeler, Schoenwald, M, Rowland, & Cunningham, 1998) is also a Blueprint programme, but there is an ongoing debate as to whether there is evidence for the conclusion that MST is superior to other interventions (Litell, 2005; Litell, Popa, & Forsythe, 2005).

Even though some of the results of the various meta-analyses of treatment of children who display disruptive behaviour problems are impressive, practitioners may still remain sceptical about these findings and the manual-based models. The evaluation of a treatment in a research-oriented context is often quite different from the evaluation of the same model in clinical practice (van de Wiel, Matthys, Cohen-Kettenis, & van Engeland, 2002). Studies of models developed and evaluated in research-oriented contexts are called efficacy studies. When such models are put into practice and evaluated in clinical contexts the results sometimes decrease drastically (Weisz, Weiss, Donenberg, & Han, 1995). Studies that are carried out in clinical contexts are referred to as effectiveness studies. The conditions for efficacy and effectiveness studies differ for instance in that the interventions in clinical contexts are carried out by clinicians with a broad focus, large caseloads of clinic-referred heterogeneous groups with many different symptoms and limited resources for supervision. In research-oriented contexts the researchers as a rule need to gain control over as many variables as possible, hence the treatment is more structured and distraction-free, and it is often performed by therapists specially trained and supervised in only one specific method. The therapists' case-loads are often smaller and the treatment groups are homogenous. The evidence of treatment benefits are limited when interventions developed in research-oriented contexts, are carried out in ordinary clinical contexts (Weisz & Jensen, 2001). However, in a recent study of two samples of clinically referred children who met criteria for ODD or CD Kazdin and Whitley (2006) challenge the notion of comorbidity and case complexity. Comorbidity did not affect treatment outcome, in fact the opposite held true - the children that displayed the highest comorbidity seemed to have benefited the most from treatment. Neither did case complexity (i.e. scope of dysfunction, low SES, parent and family functioning) influence treatment outcome. The only domain which significantly affected outcome was barriers associated with treatment participation (e.g. obstacles that interfere with coming to

and participating in treatment, especially difficult issues, demands and perceived relevance of treatment and parent-therapist relationship)

While practitioners may still be sceptical to evidence based treatment it has been suggested that researchers and clinicians should meet as early as possible in the process of developing a treatment method to "bridge the gap" (Weisz, 2000). This may increase the clinicians' interest in the method and contribute to increase trust in a model as useful. In conclusion, novel treatments need to be tested in terms of both efficacy and effectiveness (Flay et al., 2005).

A vast amount of research has exposed the association between the genesis, progression and maintenance of childhood disruptive behaviours and parental practices (Lundahl et al., 2006). Thus, intervention aiming to develop and alter parents' understanding and perceptions of the child, communication styles and parenting practices has evolved. During the last decade several parent-training programmes have been introduced in Sweden, such as The International Child Development Programmes [ICDP] (Hundeide, 1991, 2002), The Community Parent Education Program [COPE] (Cunningham, Brenner, & Boyle, 1995; Cunningham, Brenner, & Second, 1997), Barkley's Parent Training Programme (Barkley, 1997), The Incredible Years Series [IYS] (Webster-Stratton, 2000) and KOMET (Sundell, Kling, Livheim, & Mautner, 2005). Most of these programmes are based on the work of Gerald Patterson and his co-workers at the Oregon Social Learning Center (OSLC), who has shown that one way of breaking "The Coercive Circle" is parent education, where the parent learns about this process, and is trained in meeting the child in a way that reinforces positive development in the child, and thus breaks the destructive pattern (Patterson et al., 1992). The differences between the programmes are mainly consequences of the type of parents each programme targets, with regard to influences from other theories, group size, number of sessions, and the themes each method focuses most on. ICDP mainly focuses on primary prevention among ordinary parents who do not necessarily have any identified problems in their parent-child relationship. The main aim of ICDP is to strengthen the interplay between the child and parent in a way that will promote the child's development. ICDP has been introduced in several countries (Angola, Ethiopia, Italy, Brasil, Colombia, Russia, Denmark) to increase parents' as well as professionals' awareness of the child as a unique individual, who has feelings and needs similar to that of the adult, i.e. to promote a perspective of the child as a "subject" not as an "object" (Hundeide, 2002). In a controlled study in Bergen,

Norway, parents who had received ICDP displayed more supportive and positive interaction in terms of confirming and following the child's initiative, giving the child rewards and communicating more with their child, compared to the controls (Hundeide, 2002). COPE is a community oriented group model, which could be characterised as secondarily preventive in that it focuses on children who already display disruptive behaviour problems. COPE aims to prevent the child from developing more severe and long-lasting problems. In clinical settings it is offered to parents whose children exhibit challenging behaviour. However, it is more widely used as a community based primary prevention intervention that is also open for parents who want to develop their parenting skills even though their children might not show disruptive behaviour problems (Eresund, 2002). In a study of children in junior kindergartens in Hamilton, Canada, parents of the community parent-training groups reported a greater decrease in children's disruptive behaviour problems compared to the parents who received clinic-based parent training and a waiting-list control group. The community-based intervention was more cost-effective than the individual clinic-based programme (Cunningham et al., 1995). Barkley's Parent Training Programme is more clearly preventive at a secondary and tertiary level, aiming to help parents of children with not only ADHD, but also CD or ODD (Barkley, 1997). The programme has proven to be an effective treatment for ADHD in various studies (Chronis et al., 2004). In the beginning of the present millennium a group at the "Forsknings- och utvecklingsenheten" (R&D unit) in Stockholm started to develop a parent and teacher training program based on research and other programs as The Incredible Years Series (IYS) and the Parent Managing Training program developed at the Oregon social learning center (PMTO) (Forster, Sundell, Melin, Morris, & Karlberg, 2005; Sundell et al., 2005). In an uncontrolled study of 185 families with children aged 3 to 10 years, two thirds of the children whose parents had participated in KOMET showed symptom reduction after the group training and only 12 percent dropped out (Sundell et al., 2005).

The *IYS* is a manual-based model that can be characterised as secondary preventive in that it is offered to parents whose children already display rather severe BMP, but by doing so its aim is to prevent the child from developing more severe and long-lasting problems. The programme has gained the status of "exemplary programme" from the American government, which means that in several well-controlled, randomised studies it has been shown to have a good effect (Webster-Stratton & Spitzer, 1996; Webster-Stratton, 2000). The IYS build on social learning theory, but also contains features from humanistic and systemic psychotherapy theory as well as from the family therapy field (Webster-Stratton, 2000). A number of

independent replication and evaluation studies with similar results have also been conducted outside the USA, i.e. in England, Canada and Norway (Mørch et al., 2004; Scott, Spender, Doolan, Jacobs, & Aspland, 2001; Taylor, Schmidt, Pepler, & Hodgins, 1998). The different studies have shown a clinically significant decrease in symptoms for 60-70% of the children whose parents have participated in IYS parent-training groups, an increase in positive parenting behaviour, and a reduction of harsh discipline. Of the parent training programmes described above the IYS has the most well documented empirical support and meets the high standards of the Blueprint programmes (Elliott, 1999).

Concluding remark

Despite all the research there are still many questions to answer. In several studies parent training programmes have been shown to be effective. For the most part, however, these programmes were developed and evaluated within an American cultural with norms that are somewhat different from Swedish norms and styles with regard to parenting. In Sweden there is an ongoing debate as to whether parent-training programmes developed in the USA, are suited for parents in Sweden (see for instance: Bremberg, 2004; Hylander, 2004). Thus it is important to investigate if these parent programmes work in Sweden too, and how they are received by Swedish parents. Even though parent training programmes are effective, studies have found children's behaviour to be related to context, and that improved behaviour at home is not necessarily followed by improvement in other contexts as in school (Scott, 2002; Webster-Stratton & Taylor, 2001). Besides, several children who display disruptive behaviour do not engage in treatment in the social and psychiatric services. Thus treatment of disruptive children needs to address several domains of children's life and to coordinate interventions from different community services. The development of such interventions models is still a challenge for future research (Greenberg, 2004). Another issue is the age of the children who are in focus for various interventions. Age of onset of DBP has proven to be of importance (Moffitt, 1993) and so has the possibility to deliver interventions early. If interventions can be delivered before children's eighth's birthday the chances to reduce crystallization of aggressive tendencies in children increase (Webster-Stratton & Taylor, 2001). Besides, when the child reaches early adolescence interests outside school and home become more salient and the same goes for school failure and/or peer rejection. Thus interventions become more complicated and often need to target more domains of the child's life. The effectiveness of interventions delivered to older children and youths, when the behaviour problems have become more manifest, is disappointing (Andershed & Andershed, 2005; Patterson et al.,

1993). Hence it has been recommended to offer interventions as early as possible, at least before the child reaches adolescence. Interventions that (i) are offered before or during the child's early school years, (ii) focus on the promotion of the child's pro-social skills, control of aggressive behaviour and positive parent-child relationship also increase the child's capacity to develop positive relationships with peer and teachers (Webster-Stratton & Taylor, 2001). This may enhance the child's interest in school which might serve as a protective factor. Thus, the child's entrance into preschool or elementary school is a strategic and important time to introduce interventions since it might be a stressful period for children and parents. A main interest in the present thesis therefore has been to focus on treatment and assessment of children aged three to twelve years (in the intervention studies I and II ages 4 to 12 and 3 to 10 respectively, in assessment studies III and IV 3 to 10).

In study I the development of a systemic school-based model that aimed to coordinate professionals from different organizations as well as to develop better cooperation between parents and the school personnel is examined. The treatment model is Marte Meo, and Study I is the first study using the Marte Meo model for this purpose. Study II is the first evaluation of the IYS in Sweden. In both studies the intervention is carried out by the professionals who are supposed to utilize it in the future in their ordinary settings. Thus the studies add valuable information about the effectiveness of the methods.

Parent rating scales

As described above, children who display severe disruptive behaviour early in life are at increased risk of developing externalizing as well as internalizing problems later in life. The earlier it is possible to deliver interventions the greater are the chances for a positive result. It is also probably much more cost effective to deliver interventions early (Hill et al., 2004). It thus becomes important to (a) identify and deliver proper interventions to young children at risk (b) to develop proper measures for the evaluation of treatment effect and for research.

Different informants (i.e. parents, teachers, siblings the child) differ from each other with regard to how they rate children's emotions and behaviours on various measures. The finding of low to moderate correspondence between different informants is consistent between studies (de Los Reyes & Kazdin, 2004; Duhig, Renk, Epstein, & Phares, 2000; Gross, Fogg, Gravey, & Julion, 2004; Treutler & Epkins, 2003; Waaktaar, Borge, Christie, & Torgensen, 2005). In

general the highest mean correlations are found among raters who have similar relationship to the child, as between parents, compared to parents and teachers (Waaktaar et al., 2005). The correlation between parents' and children's ratings is consistently low to moderate in different studies (de Los Reyes & Kazdin, 2004; Seiffge-Krenke & Kollmar, 1998). An interesting inconsistency in the findings is that Achenbach and colleagues found that the correlation between parents' ratings were higher for children than for adolescents (Achenbach, McConaughy, & Howell, 1987), whereas the opposite was found in the more recent meta-analysis by Duhig et al (2000). There seems to be a higher agreement between different informants concerning problems related to overt behaviours such as aggression, truancy etc. (externalizing) than covert behaviours such as worries, loneliness and sadness (internalizing) (Duhig et al., 2000; Myers & Winters, 2002; Waaktaar et al., 2005; Youngstrom, Loeber, & Stouthamer-Loeber, 2000).

Duhig and colleagues (2000) found in a meta-analysis of 60 different studies that mothers' and fathers' ratings of children's emotional and behavioural problem were moderately correlated for internalizing problems (mean r = .46) but highly correlated for externalizing problems (mean r = .66). The differences may result from the unique experiences that different informants have from interacting with the child in different contexts (Treutler & Epkins, 2003) but also from the psychometric properties of the different measures (de Los Reyes & Kazdin, 2004; Gross et al., 2004). For instance the fact that mothers generally spend more time with their children can make them more sensitive to the child's internalizing problems, which can explain some of the differences in mothers' and fathers' ratings of internalizing problems (Treutler & Epkins, 2003). Mothers also tend to report more behaviour problems than fathers (Duhig et al., 2000; Myers & Winters, 2002). Besides the explanation of mothers generally spending more time with their children, another explanation may be that children actually exhibit more disobedience towards their mothers than towards their fathers (Duhig et al., 2000). Although there are discrepancies in mothers' and fathers' ratings, the correlation is still at a level that makes it possible to obtain reasonably valid information from only one parent if necessary (Duhig et al., 2000).

When measuring outcome it is desirable to use multiple measures (rating scales, observations diagnostic interviews) and multiple informants: children, parents, teachers and clinicians (Flay et al., 2005). Different approaches have been used regarding discrepancies among different raters. While some researchers emphasize the fact that different informants' ratings

are useful in differential predictions of outcome, thus recommending keeping different informants' ratings separate, others have constructed cross informant syndromes to synthesise information from different raters (Hay et al., 1999). Among the different informants, parents have been proposed as the most important source of information when evaluating children's emotional and behavioural problems (Achenbach et al., 1987). Parents have in general proven to be the better reporters of externalizing behaviours and they also provide the most comprehensive knowledge since they observe their children in different contexts and thus can observe variation in behaviours (Myers & Winters, 2002). Since teachers meet children in the normalized setting of school they are, in general the best at noticing deviation from peers (Myers & Winters, 2002). Finally, youths have been better raters of internalizing symptoms in self-reports (Myers & Winters, 2002). Thus, parent rating scales with sound psychometric properties are indispensable tools in assessing children's strengths and difficulties. Since they are reasonably easy to distribute, the process of obtaining normative data is facilitated and a variety of problems can be measured and compared to normative data. Another advantage of parent rating scales is that they are well suited for repeated measures which make them useful in the evaluation of treatment programs (Eyberg & Pincus, 1999). Besides, since parents in general are those who (i) initiate referral, (ii) provide feedback during treatment, (iii) determine what will be done about their children's problems, and (iv) are most familiar with the youth, they also are the primary informants (Mash & Terdal, 1997).

It should, however be remembered that rating scales do not deliver the "truth" about a given construct. It is an attempt to measure a construct of a phenomenon (as different behaviours or feelings), by systematically assigning a number to a variable that represents this construct. Thus to determine the usefulness of a rating scale it is important to obtain information on the scale's validity (whether the scale actually assesses the construct that it is intended to measure) and reliability (whether the scale's different items measure the same construct, and whether that construct is measured every time the scale is used). There are different estimates for reliability over time (test-retest reliability). The internal consistency is expected to be above .80 (Collett et al., 2003). Also the test-retest reliability over two weeks is expected to exceed .80. However, if the time between the two occasions when the test is distributed is more than one months a test-retest above .60 is acceptable (Collett et al., 2003). There are also different measures of validity. Convergent validity measures whether the scale correlates reasonably with some theoretically relevant variable with which it should correlate (i.e. with

another scale). The estimates of validity are expected to be significant but lower than for reliability. A correlation above .40 (sometimes even lower) between the different scales is considered as acceptable (Collett et al., 2003). On the contrary a correlation above .90 indicates that the two scales are too similar and that the new scale do not contribute to the already existing scale (Collett et al., 2003). Discriminant validity measures whether the scale discriminates between different groups (i.e children who display problems that exceed a clinically relevant level and children who do not). In general the comparison is made between a group that is known to have the problem under investigation and one known not to have the problem, thus the discriminant validity is sometimes termed known-groups validity (Myers & Winters, 2002).

In research, comparisons are usually made between different samples within the same study (i.e. intervention group vs. treatment-as-usual, or waiting-list groups) not between study group children and children in general. The main interest has been in children's functioning (i.e. do the children display less symptoms after an intervention than before) rather than to a reference group (i.e do children in one group have a lager symptom loads than children of a normative sample: Mash & Terdal, 1997). Researchers therefore normally do not have strong enough reasons to set aside time for the standardization of different measures. As a consequence lack of normative data is a shortcoming with many rating scales, despite the fact that they in general are well suited for standardization (Myers & Winters, 2002). Clinicians, on the other hand, do not have a comparison group if the measure is not normed in the culture in which the clinician works. Inventories are therefore all too often used clinically (and also in research), without proper norms, resulting in a situation where one has to rely on norms from other countries or cultures, if available (Mash & Terdal, 1997).

Normative comparisons can be used for the identification of children who perform significantly better or worse than expected and it also facilitates intermediate treatment aims and long-term goals. Normative comparison may also reveal if the expectations of a child's behaviour differ too much from existing norms and whether a problem is transitory or common at a certain age (Mash & Terdal, 1997). Normative data also helps to determine whether treatment outcome is clinically significant or not (Mash & Terdal, 1997). All too often inventories are used (clinically as well as in research) without proper norms, and the clinicians or researcher have to rely on norms from other countries or cultures, if available. This can however be misleading. In a comparison of the total problem score on the CBCL

between 30 different cultures it was shown that Northern European cultures (e.g. Sweden, Norway and Germany) as well as Japan and China scored more than one standard deviation below the omnicultural mean (Rescorla et al., In review). Thus it is important to obtain normative data in the context where the measure will be used.

Parent rating scales may serve several different purposes: screening, epidemiologic research or treatment outcome studies. Generic broad-band scales are useful in that they give a broad picture of psychopathology and assess psychopathology in terms of profiles. However, as a consequence of their larger scope the number of behaviours or symptoms covered for each construct (e.g., aggression) must be limited. Thus in general they provide less information for understanding a specific behaviour pattern and are less sensitive to treatment effects (Collett et al., 2003). Specific narrow-band scales are more limited in scope, but may instead be more sensitive to change over time. They may also offer greater opportunity to understand variability in behaviours or symptoms within a given construct, which is especially valuable in treatment outcome research (Collett et al., 2003).

The Child Behaviour Checklist (CBCL) - is a part of the ASEBA (Achenbach System of Empirically Based Assessment) family of instruments (Achenbach, 1991; Achenbach & Rescorla, 2001). The CBCL is probably the most used measure in research on children's behaviour. It has shown excellent psychometric properties in various studies (Achenbach, 1991; Achenbach & Rescorla, 2001) It consists of 20 items that assess social competence and 118 items that assess behaviour problems. The 118 items are scored from 0 (not true) to 2 (very often true). A high score indicates more psychiatric problems. Beside a total score, eight narrow band syndrome scales scores (withdrawn, somatic complaints, anxious/ depressed, social problems, thought problems, attention problems, rule-breaking behavior and aggressive behavior) can be calculated. From these scales two dimensions can also be calculated. The internalizing dimension consist of the subscales; withdrawn, somatic complaints and anxiety/depressed and the externalizing dimension consists of the rule-breaking and aggressive scales. The CBCL has been translated into Swedish and normative Swedish data has been published (Larsson & Frisk, 1999). Even if CBCL operates in a dimensional domain it has proven to be reliable in predicting clinical caseness. In a Danish study a total behaviourproblem score \geq 35 turned out to be a sensitive cut-off score for clinical caseness (Bilenberg, Petersen, Hoerder, & Gillberg, 2005). In addition, DSM-oriented scales of the CBCL have also been developed (Achenbach et al., 2003).

The Strengths and Difficulties Questionnaire (SDQ) - is a brief broad-band questionnaire which is used to assess prosocial behaviour and psychological problems in children and youths aged 3 to 16 (Goodman, 2001). It has become widely spread and used by clinicians and researchers (Malmberg, Rydell, & Smedje, 2003). The SDQ consists of 25 statements, some positive and some negative and the respondents check the boxes for "Not true", "Somewhat true" or "Certainly true". As well as a total difficulties and a prosocial score, four narrow-band syndrome scales can be calculated: emotional symptoms, conduct, hyperactivityinattention and peer problems. In addition to the one-page questionnaire there is also an extended version including an impact supplement where the respondent rates overall distress, social impairment, burden and chronicity (Goodman, 1999). An impact score can be calculated from the ratings of social impairment and distress The SDQ has shown strong psychometric properties, with an internal consistency on the total difficulties and impact scores of .80 or greater (Goodman, 2001). A Swedish version of the SDQ also exists that has proven to work well, and normative data as well as clinical cut-off points have been published (Malmberg et al., 2003; Smedje, Broman, Hetta, & von Knorring, 1999). The SDQ and the CBCL have been shown to be highly correlated when compared (Bettge et al., 2002; Goodman & Scott, 1999). The SDQ has also proven to be reliable and useful in predicting diagnostic categories, (Goodman, Ford, Simmons, Gatward, & Meltzer, 2000; Goodman, Renfrew et al., 2000; Mathai, Anderson, & Bourne, 2004).

The Eyberg Child Behavior Inventory (ECBI) is a narrow band 36-item one-dimensional parent rating scale that is constructed to measure disruptive behaviour problems in children between 2 and 16 years. It has become widely used in research as well as in clinical practice (Burns & Patterson, 2000; Eyberg & Pincus, 1999; Gross et al., 2004). The ECBI contains two scales, the "Intensity scale" (IS) and the "Problem scale" (PS). On the IS the parents rate the frequency of the behaviour problem from "never happens" (1) to "always happens" (7), thus the IS can range from 36 to 252. On the PS the parents also report whether they perceive the specific behaviour as a problem or not (yes or no). The number of "yes-answers" is summed and constitutes "the problem index" ranging from 0 to 36. While the IS measures the severity of the child's behaviour, the PS reflects the parents' tolerance of the behaviour. McMahon and Estes (1997) have suggested that discrepancies between ratings on the intensity and problem scales may be a sign of parents' reluctance to admit that the behaviour is a problem, or of intolerance, permissiveness or disengagement. The inventory was

developed in the late 1970's and it was first standardised for children in 1980 and for adolescents in 1983 (Eyberg & Robinson, 1983; Robinson, Eyberg, & Ross, 1980). It was restandardized for both children and adolescents in 1999 (Colvin, Eyberg, & Adams, 1999). The ECBI has been shown to have good psychometric properties with an internal consistency of .95 (IS) and .93 (PS) (Eyberg & Pincus, 1999). It has also shown strong internal consistency within gender and age as well as among diverse ethnic groups (Colvin et al., 1999). The test - retest reliability (within a three week interval) was .86 (IS) and .88 (PS). In addition, moderate to strong cross - informant consistency between mothers' and fathers' ratings has been reported (.69 (IS), .61(PS)) (Eyberg & Pincus, 1999). In a study aiming to establish the concurrent validity of the ECBI the Child behaviour Check List (CBCL) was used as the criterion measure (Boggs, Eyberg, & Reynolds, 1990). The Spearman correlation coefficient between the ECBI IS and the CBCL internalizing and externalizing problem scales were .41 and .75. The authors found support for the validity of the ECBI, in that it showed a significantly higher correlation with the externalizing than with the internalizing scale. The high correlation between the latter scale and the ECBI might be an effect of the overlap between the two subscales of the CBCL. The discriminative validity of the ECBI has been demonstrated in various studies showing significant differences between non-referred, conduct problem, neglected and other clinic-referred children (Funderburk, Eyberg, Rich, & Behar, 2003).

The ECBI has been translated into several different languages including Chinese, German, Japanese, Korean, Norwegian, Russian, Spanish and now Swedish. Some normative studies of the ECBI have been published with some variations in the mean scores of the Intensity and Problem scales, e.g. in the USA (IS total mean 98.5 and PS total mean 6.7; Eyberg & Pincus 1999), Spain (96.8 and 3.9 respectively; Garcia-Tornel Florensa et al, 1998) and Norway (89.9 and 3.1, respectively (Reedtz et al., Submitted). However, Swedish normative data is still lacking.

The creators of the ECBI consider it a uni-dimensional measure of DBP (Colvin et al., 1999; Eyberg & Pincus, 1999). This has however been questioned (Burns & Patterson, 1991; 2000; McMahon & Estes, 1997). McMahon and Estes (1997) suggested that since the ECBI includes items that are indicative not only of ODD and CD, but also of ADHD, only items indicative of ODD and CD should be scored to obtain more homogenous samples of children. Burns and Patterson (2000) carried out an exploratory factor analysis (EFA) in an American sample of 2 527 children. They found support for a four-factor model, including three clinically meaningful dimensions (Oppositional Defiant Behaviour Towards Adults (ODBTA), Inattentive Behaviour (InattB) and Conduct Problem Behaviour (CPB)) and a fourth unnamed factor that did not represent a meaningful dimension according to the authors. Afterwards they conducted a confirmatory factor analysis (CFA) to determine whether a three factor model represented a good fit. The fourth unnamed factor was excluded since it did not represent a clinically meaningful dimension. The usefulness of a three factor model based on 22 items was confirmed. Furthermore they proposed that the subscale Oppositional defiant behaviours towards adults was a better choice than the whole ECBI for identifying children who could benefit from parent training intervention and as a measure of children's compliance in parent-child interaction, an important outcome of parent training programmes. The Conduct problems scale was considered as particularly useful in determining the severity of the child's problem behaviour. Besides, the shorter 22-item version might be a practicable alternative to the 36-items version when the desired method of utilizing multiple measures of the same construct is carried out. However, the CFA of the 22-item version has not been replicated.

In sum, the ECBI has proven to be a useful measure for evaluating treatment outcome and for identification of disruptive behaviour problems. It has however not been standardised in Sweden and Swedish norms are lacking. This issue is addressed in Study III. In Study IV the confirmatory factor analysis of the 22-item version is replicated and, psychometric properties and Swedish norms are calculated.

Empirical studies

Study I

Aim

The aim of the first study was to develop and evaluate the effectiveness of the Collaboration model, which combines the specific treatment method Marte Meo with coordination meetings based on systemic theory and practice, as a tool for early detection and intervention in 4 to 12 year-old children with externalizing behaviour problems at school.

Method

One goal was to coordinate the work of professionals from various organizations who were involved in trying to help children who displayed Behaviour Management Problems (BMP) and their family. Thus the intervention was a collaborative systemic school-based model. The Marte Meo (MM) method was selected as the treatment model of choice in combination with "coordination meetings" (CM). A quasi-experimental design, with a non randomized comparison group was used for the evaluation of the Collaboration model. Treatment effects in the group who had received the intervention were compared with a group who had received treatment-as-usual in their ordinary school setting. Assessments were carried out before and two years after the intervention. The children (aged 4 to 12) all came from municipal-schools (intervention grup N=33, comparison group N=16). The questionnaires that were used to measure possible changes in children's symptoms were The Child Behaviour Checklist (CBCL), The Teacher's Report Form (TRF), Conners' 10 item Parents Rating Scale (CPRS) and Conners' teacher rating scale (CTRS). The CBCL and TRF are both parts of the ASEBA family of instruments (Achenbach & Rescorla, 2001). The CPRS and CTRS are two widely used versions of the ratings scales developed by Conners and colleagues (Barkley, 1988; Conners, 1969, 1973; Conners, Sitarenios, Parker, & Epstein, 1997; Goyette, Conners, & Ulrich, 1978). The 10 item version of the CPRS is an abbreviated version of the original 93-item version that consists of the ten most checked items by parents of hyperactive children. It overlaps with the 39-item teacher and has been proven reliable for the identification of hyperactive children (Kadesjö & Gillberg, 1998; Kadesjö, Kadesjö, Hägglöf, & Gillberg, 2001; Landgren, Pettersson, Kjellman, & Gillberg, 1996).

The questionnaires that were used to measure the parents' experience of their psycho-social situation were the *Symptom Check List* (SCL-90) and *Sense of coherence* (SoC). These instruments are not included in the results but are brought up in the general discussion. The SCL-90 is a self report instrument of psychological and emotional symptoms in adults. (Derogatis, Lipman, & Covi, 1973). SCL-90 which has been translated to Swedish (Malling Andersen & Johansson, 1998) and normative Swedish data has been published (Fridell, Cesarec, Johansson, & Malling Andersen, 2002). The SoC is a self report that measures salutogenic factors that influence a person's location on a health ease/disease continuum (Antonovsky, 1991, 1993).

Results

There was a significant decrease in symptoms closely related to antisocial behavior, in the intervention group but not in the comparison group. Furthermore there was no difference between parents' and teachers' ratings of boys vs. girls. The pre-post test effect sizes for the differences between the intervention and comparison groups were .50 on the CBCL total scores, .52 for CBCL internalizing, .37 for CBCL externalizing and .50 on the CPRS. There was a clinically significant decrease of symptoms in 50-54 % of the children in the intervention group compared to 23-33 % in the comparison group. In addition the effect sizes of the parent ratings were in the medium range in the intervention group but close to zero in the comparison group. The teachers of the intervention group reported a clinically significant decrease of symptoms of around 50 %, and effect sizes ranged from medium to large.

Discussion

The pre and post-test effect sizes indicate a rather strong result for a school-based intervention carried out in the children's ordinary school setting, when compared to other school-based interventions (Wilson, 2003). The fact that there were no drop-outs once the intervention had begun is important. The significant decrease in symptoms at home as well as in school is noteworthy, since children's behaviour is related to context, and the generalization of improvements in one context is not necessarily followed by improvement in another. The systemic approach in the coordination meetings may have contributed to this result. It is also possible that the combination of a more relative approach (CM) with a more normative one (MM) contributed to the fact that there were no drop outs. The normative approach was of great value to the staff who carried out the intervention at school, working directly with the child and his development, whilst the non-normative approach was more appropriate in the collaboration meetings, helpful in balancing and supporting the development of a constructive dialogue between parents, teachers and other helpers. Study I also shows that it is possible to work across the community institutional structures of school, social and psychiatric services, something that continues to be a challenge in school-based prevention research (Greenberg, 2004). It also demonstrates that co-operation between researchers and clinicians can be fruitful. The fact that both groups combined to work directly in the field, in order to meet a very real challenge, that of anti-social behavior in children, may have encouraged and supported the creative element in the development of the Collaboration model.

Study II

Aim

The aim of the second study was to evaluate the IYS Basic parenting groups, when first introduced in Sweden, using an open trial approach in diverse clinical settings. The evaluation was done with regard to the effects on (1) children's behaviour management problems (BMP) (2) children's psychiatric symptoms more generally (3) participating parents' psychiatric symptoms and general well-being. Since this is the first study of IYS in Sweden, an additional objective was to evaluate "consumer satisfaction", that is, how the programme was received by the participating parents.

Method

After the training in IYS Basic, conducted by a certified trainer, the participating teams undertook an assignment to follow the IYS Basic manual and participate in groupsupervision. Parents (109 mothers and 48 fathers) of 113 children (37 girls and 76 boys) aged 3-9 years were recruited to the parent training groups through the group leader's ordinary services, i.e. social welfare agencies and child- and adolescent psychiatric services. Ten different sites participated in the study. Data was collected before the onset of the parenttraining group (pre), and immediately after the completion of the programme (post). The inclusion criteria were: (a) the parents agreed to participate in the study, (b) the professionals at the various sites made a clinical judgement that the children displayed behaviour management problems and (c) the parents understood the Swedish language enough to complete the forms. In addition to the inventories that were used in Study I (CBCL, CPRS, SCL-90) the Ladder of life which assesses past, present and expected future ratings of overall life satisfaction was used (Wiklund et al., 1992). The 13-item version of Sense of coherence was used in Study II. Swedish normative data has been published (Olsson & Hwang, 2002). The Incredible Years Parent Program Satisfaction Questionnaire BASIC Parent Program (Webster-Stratton, 2001) was used to evaluate "consumer satisfaction".

Results

There were statistically significant changes in fathers' as well as mothers' CBCL ratings on Internalizing, Externalizing, and total problems as well as on CPRS. The effect sizes ranged from .34 to .69. The clinically significant improvement ranged between 40 % and 60 %. There was no difference in outcome between boys and girls or between the different age-

groups (3-5, 6-7, 8-9 yrs) in terms of symptom reduction. Also when an Intent To Treat (ITT) design was used the solid statistically significant difference between pre and post remained. There was a significant change, for the better, in mothers' and fathers' ratings on SCL-90 as well as on SoC-13. The parents also expressed more optimism about their future overall life situation in the post ratings. The better the mothers experienced their psychological health and or their sense of coherence the better the outcome in terms of children's symptom reduction. No such significant correlation was found between the fathers' ratings and these outcome measures. Ninety-seven per cent of the parents had a "positive" (31%) or "very positive" (66%) overall rating of the treatment programme for their child and family and 88 % of the parents had experienced that the major problems that had prompted them to begin treatment for their child had "improved" (40%) or "greatly improved" (44%).

Discussion

The results indicate that IYS is an effective method for treating children's BMP in a Swedish clinical context. The decrease in children's symptoms is highly significant. There is also a significant change for the better in the well-being of the parents, which is in line with the finding that the short-term psychosocial health of mothers seems be promoted by participating in the parent-training programme (Barlow & Coren, 2003). Parents were also more optimistic about the future which is of importance, since general expectations about the future have proven to be of significance for how well people can cope with different stressors (Ey et al., 2005). The parents reported that the parent training groups were helpful and that they were very satisfied with the content as well as the manner in which the training had been carried out.

Study III

Aim

As part of an ongoing evaluation study of the Incredible Years Parent Training Program in the county of Skaraborg in Sweden a normative study of the ECBI was carried out. The aim of the study was to examine the Swedish version of the ECBI with regard to: (a) validity and reliability (b) norms in a Swedish sample (c) correspondence between mothers' and fathers' ratings and (d) test-retest reliability.

Method

After translation and back translation of the ECBI it was sent to 1500 randomly selected custodians of children aged 3 to 10 together with the SDQ and a Background form. Ten days after the first call, a reminder was sent out. Finally, in the last call two months after the first call, a new letter was sent with the ECBI and the background form. The ECBI was again sent to the 120 first parents who had responded to the initial letter in order to be able to estimate the test-retest reliability. The response rate on the ECBI IS was 56 % (N = 841) and on the PS (52%) (N = 783). The sample was broadly representative of the total population in the county of Skaraborg, except for educational level which seemed to somewhat higher in the sample. *The Strengths and Difficulties Questionnaire* (SDQ) was used for the validation of the ECBI.

Results

The internal consistency of the Intensity scale (Cronbach's alpha) was .94 and of the problem scales .92. The item-total correlations were in general within the "large range" (>.50). However, item 36 ("wets in bed") and 21 ("steals") display small item-total correlations (.23 and .26 respectively). The test-retest correlations were .88 on the Intensity scale (Pearson r) and .67 on the Problem scale (Spearman's rho). The correlations between mother and father's ratings were highly significant. There was no statistically significant difference between mother's and father's ratings on the Intensity scale. However, there was a statistically significant difference on the Problem scale with fathers rating children's behaviour as less problematic. The ECBI was significantly better at identifying children with problems in the conduct and hyperactivity-inattentiveness areas than emotional problems. The correlation between the ECBI Intensity scale and a combination of the SDQ "Conduct problems" and "Hyperactivity-inattention" scales was .72 (N = 442, p < .001) whereas the correlation with the emotional problem scale was. 38. (N = 442, p < .001). The mean score of the ECBI II was 88.2 (N = 841, SD = 26.0) and PS 3.1 (N = 783, SD = 5.03). Preschoolers scored higher on the IS (t = -2.76, p < .01) as well as on the PS (U = 67407.000, p < .01) than school aged children. Preschool boys scored higher than girls on the IS (t = -2.76, p < .01). The most common behaviours were "gets angry when doesn't get own way" (12), "verbally fights sisters and brothers" (25), "slow in getting ready for bed" (6), "dawdles in getting dressed" (1), whereas the behaviours that the parents considered most problematic when present were "hits parents" (18), "steals" (21), "wets in bed" (36), "refuses to obey until threatened with punishment" (9). The ECBI IS score was not related to any of the background variables. Some statistically significant differences were however, found on the problem scale. Parents of children who did not live with both their biological parents or children whose parents were born outside Sweden, or parents with a lower educational level perceived more problems (U = 5579, p < .01; U = 18640.5 p < .001; U = 34499.5, p = .01 respectively).

Discussion

The ECBI also seems to work well in a Swedish context. Three items, however, raise some questions. It is suggested that the Swedish version of the ECBI may benefit from excluding item 36 and to compensate for low scores on items 25 and 27 if the child does not have siblings. The Swedish ECBI IS total mean was significantly lower than the American (t = 6.20, p < .01), but not compared to the Norwegian, which is consistent with findings from other studies (Rescorla et al., In review). The sample seems to be acceptably representative of the county of Skaraborg. When compared to the whole country of Sweden the scores might be slightly too low since Skaraborg is a geographical area with no large cities

Some of the most common behaviours are rated as not very problematic while some of the behaviours that are very rare are considered very problematic which might indicate the usefulness of an algorithm that takes the scores on the IS as well as on the PS into account to predict possible psychiatric symptoms. No differences were found on the IS with regard to the background variables. However, parents of children who did not live with both their biological parents or children whose parents were born outside Sweden, or parents with a lower educational level perceived more problems. This might indicate the existence of underlying mediating factors that affect whether behaviour is perceived as a problem or not (for example social support).

Study IV

Aim

The aim of the fourth study was to (a) test a previously published three factor solution of the 22-item version of the ECBI in a Swedish sample, using a confirmatory factor analysis (CFA), (b) present preliminary Swedish norms of the 22-item version and (c) perform a preliminary validation of the 22-item version.

Method

In study IV the same sample (N = 841) and measures (ECBI, SDQ and Background form) as in study III were used. However, from the original 36 item version of ECBI a three-factor model based on 22 items suggested by Burns and Patterson (2000) was used. The three clinically meaningful dimensions in this model were Oppositional Defiant Behaviour Towards Adults (ODBTA; 10 items), Inattentive Behaviour (InattB; 4 items) and Conduct Problem Behaviour (CPB; 8 items). A Confirmatory Factor Analysis (CFA) was carried out on the 22-item version of ECBI. Different indices were used to evaluate the model fit: the normed chi-square (normed χ^2), comparative fit index (CFI) and the root mean square error of approximation (RMSEA). Indications of an acceptable fit between the observed data and the model are for the normed χ^2 values over 1.0 but below 5.0 (Byström, Johansson Hanse, & Kjellberg, 2004; Kline, 2005), CFI higher than .90 and RMSEA below .08 (Kline, 2005). The Modification Index (MI) has been used for detection of feasible improvements of the model. MI has been used to measure the reduction of the χ^2 when a specific change in the model is applied.

Results

The internal consistency was high on the ECBI Intensity scale total score (Cronbach alpha = .92,) as well as on the subscales ODBTA and InattB (alpha = .91, and .92 respectively.), but somewhat lower on the CPB scale (.73). The different model fit indices indicated an acceptable fit ($\chi^2 = 961.02$; DF=204; p < .001; Normed $\chi^2 = 4.71$, RMSEA = .066; CFI = .92) in the second run of the CFA in which the model was respecified for two correlated errors. All the paths (factor loadings) in the measurement models were statistically significant. The correlations between the total intensity scales of the 36 version and 22 items total, oppositional defiant, inattentive, conduct problems behaviour scores were .97, .90, .75 and .73 respectively. The IS-22 mean total score was 51.5 (SD =16.7), ODBTA 26.0 (9.7), InattB 9.8 (4.8) and CPB 15.6 (5.1). Preschoolers displayed significantly higher scores than children in their early school years on the total (t = 3.90, p < .001), ODBTA (t = 4.74, p < .001), and CPB scales (t = 2.32, p < .05). There was also a clear difference between girls and boys (3-10 years, girls lower scores) on the total (t = -3.38, p < .01) InattB (t = -3.01, p < .01) and CPB scales (t = 5.04, p = <.001). The correlation (Pearson r) between the total ECBI-22 score and a combination of the SDQ "conduct problems" and "hyperactivity-inattention" scales was .73 (N=442, p < .001), but only .34 (N=442, p < .001) between the ECBI-22 and the emotional problems scale. The difference between the correlation coefficients was highly significant (Z = 8.51 p < .001).

Discussion

The 22-item version of the ECBI shows good psychometric properties in the Swedish sample. There are some striking similarities between the American and Swedish models. The model fit indices of the American and Swedish samples are almost identical. Furthermore, the significant improvements of the model, indicated by the MI, were identical to those of Burns and Patterson (2000), There was a very high correlation between the total scores of the different versions of the ECBI (36 and 22 items) and the validity seems to be at least as good for the ECBI-22 as for the ECBI-36 when compared to the SDQ.

In conclusion the shorter version of the ECBI seems to be a robust and useful alternative for measuring treatment outcome, unless one wants to compare with other studies where the ECBI-36 has been used

General discussion

Early identification and proper interventions for children who display disruptive behaviour problems are important issues. Besides reducing suffering and future problems for the child and people in her /his environment, early interventions also offer the possibility of large economic savings for society. Utilizing a socio-economic model it was calculated, in the report "Tänk långsiktigt", that 3.400 - 6.900 (depending on the discount costs) sets of parents could receive supportive parent training for the cost of one case of substance abuse in adult life (Tänk långsiktigt [Think long term], The Swedish National Agency of education, The National Board of Health and Welfare, Swedish National Institute of Public Health, 2004).

The Eyberg child behaviour inventory (ECBI) is a widely spread measure for treatment evaluation as well as in research. It has also proven to be useful in identification of children with disruptive behaviour disorders. In the present thesis it was demonstrated that the ECBI, the full original version as well as the abbreviated 22-item version, seem to be robust and useful instruments with sound psychometric properties in a Swedish context too. Some modifications are however suggested. The same sample was used in Study III and IV. A limitation of these studies is that the response rate was only 56 %. This raises a question of

how representative the sample is. In the last decades there has been an increase in subjects who do not respond to surveys of this kind which increases the risk of non-response bias (Gerrits, van den Oord, & Voogt, 2001). It has for example been argued that even with a high participation rate the prevalence of psychiatric problems is much higher among nonparticipants (Posserud, Lundervold, & Gillberg, 2006). To reach a scientifically acceptable level, a minimum response rate of 50 % has been suggested (Mangione, 1995), and in the present study we passed that limit. Gerrits and colleagues (2001) argue however, that this guideline lacks empirical support. When the group of non-respondents is large, it probably include groups with systematic (i.e. participants with more psychiatric problems) as well as non-systematic (e.g. participants who don't like to fill in questionnaires, forgets, have not enough time etc) bias. Thus, the group of nonresponders becomes more heterogeneous and may on the whole resemble the group of responders. Hence, the systematic bias of nonresponders on the results might actually be smaller with a lower response rate. As a consequence other measures of representativeness are suggested. When compared to the population of Skaraborg, the sample seems to be broadly representative, except for educational level where the parents of the present sample seem to have a somewhat higher level of education than the wider population of Skaraborg. When respondents to the first wave of letters were compared to those who responded only to the final wave, no difference was found which also indicates that the sample is broadly representative of the local population. The Swedish norms of the ECBI were significantly lower then the American but did not differ from the Norwegian norm which is in line with previous studies.

Since parents seem to be more reluctant to respond to surveys nowadays it is important to decrease the amount of items to be answered, and thus the time-load for the respondent, without loosing crucial information. Besides the advantages of being shorter than the 36-item version, the 22-item version also seems to be more distinct in examining disruptive behaviours. In their exploratory factor analysis Burns and Patterson (2000) found a latent variable which they considered not to represent a meaningful dimension. It is possible that some of the items that are excluded from the 22-item version loaded on emotional problems, which might explain the more salient difference between girls and boys in the 22-item version compared to the 36-item version. This ought to be examined in a study with a clinical sample. In addition, the original hypothesis of Burns and Patterson (2000) that the subscale ODBTA indicates who might benefit from parent training, whereas the subscale CPB indicates severity of problems should be put under trial in a clinical sample.

Even if early detection and intervention are important there are also some concerns about the screening process. One question regards sensitivity vs. specificity, that is to balance between as many true positives (people who do have problems) as possible and at the same time as few false positives (people who do not have problems) as possible in the screening process. Will many people who are actually not in need of help receive the intervention? Is there any risk of stigmatization? Not much research has been done about potential stigmatization effects of parent training programs (Hill et al., 2004). Aggressive, disruptive behaviour is common among two year olds. However, at about four years of age it declines and thus it becomes possible to identify children "with" different developmental trajectories. This illustrates that the timing of screening is important (Gross et al., 2004). Different studies have shown a higher accuracy in screening children in their early school years than of preschool children (Bennett & Offord, 2001; Hill et al., 2004). Teacher ratings alone have shown to have high predictive value of later externalizing and delinquent behaviour (Hill et al., 2004). However, multiple-rater (teacher *and* parent) methods have proven to be even better.

The next question is which interventions can be offered after the screening? Are appropriate resources available to help and support the child and family, if the screening shows that the child is at risk for later problems? There might also be a risk that the child's behaviour becomes worse if she or he is a "false positive" and receives inappropriate interventions (Hill et al., 2004).

Among interventions for children with DBP, there is evidence that parent training programmes are effective for children aged 3 - 12 years, and especially for children below 10 years of age (Brestan & Eyberg, 1998; Chronis et al., 2004; Scott, 2002; Weisz & Jensen, 2001). For children below three, parent training also seem to be an effective intervention, but only a few studies have been carried out and more studies are needed to confirm the results (Barlow & Parsons, 2005). Today there are different parent training programmes, of which the best evaluated is the Incredible Years. The different programmes differ in scope, however (i.e. primary, secondary and tertiary preventive or treatment), and it would be of great use if the various programmes were evaluated in the specific contexts where they are supposed to be carried out. Even though the results of the parent training groups are impressive, it is also evident that for a rather large group of children additional interventions are needed. The IYS include two such additions: the *The Dinosaur School*, (a group treatment for children aged 4

- 8) and The Teacher Classroom Management Training program (Webster-Stratton, 2000; Webster-Stratton & Hammond, 1997). In the Dinosaur programme the children are trained in social skills, anger control, and problem-solving as well as social perspective-taking techniques. The Dinosaur School is based partly on video recorded elements, where children look at different video-clips of conflict situations together with the group leaders, and then discuss and role play different ways to solve these situations. An important ingredient in the method is the use of two large hand puppets that are used to express thoughts and emotions which children can find it difficult to describe. The Dinosaur programme is adapted for use in both a clinical and a class-room setting. Besides the fact that some children need training on their own as a complement to their parents participating in the parent training programmes, the Dinosaur School also offers a possibility to help children whose parents or foster parents do not engage in parent training The teacher training programme aims at strengthening teachers' classroom management strategies, to promote children's pro-social behaviour and school readiness and to strengthen the link between home and school (Webster-Stratton & Reid, 2002). The programme is not directed towards working with a specific child, but rather to enhance teachers' ability to deal with children's BMP more generally. When the parent training programs are combined with children and/or teacher training the results in terms of symptom reduction improve (Webster-Stratton & Taylor, 2001). In Study I the development of a systemic school based intervention was examined. Besides the benefits and need of developing interventions that can be delivered outside the traditional clinical settings for children who do not come in contact with social and psychiatric services, school interventions, when effective, can be very cost effective. Teachers, who increase their skills managing DBP in the classroom, do of course use these skills not only in regard to the child in focus but also to other children in the present or future classes. An increase in the teachers' capacity to promote social and emotional development in a disrupted child is also likely to generalize with regard to other children. A comment from some of teachers who were involved in study II was that the Marte Meo intervention was some of the best advanced training they had received.

The results of Study I and II are promising and may contribute to the "cautious optimism" that has grown among researchers and clinicians in the last two decades. They have indicated that it is possible to promote sizable changes in a substantial subgroup of children who are described as hard to reach and treat. Rutter (1998) however concluded that even though it is possible to reduce delinquent behaviour by various interventions there is reason not to have

too high expectations, since the reduction of delinquency in successful interventions has only been around 12%.

Even if formal diagnostic criteria were not used, the children's psychiatric symptoms score were within the clinical range on the dimensional scales used in both studies. The direction of the change is clear through the fact that considerably more of the children are within the "normal range" in their post-ratings, but still a large number of children are rated at a clinical level in their post-ratings which calls for the need of additional interventions. Neither of the intervention studies in the present thesis was conducted in a randomized controlled trial format which implies that the results should be taken cautiously. The first study uses a quasiexperimental design with a non-randomized control group. The second has a pre-experimental design with pre and post-treatment ratings of different groups that have participated in the IYS Basic parenting training groups. There was no control group in the second study, thus the first study has a higher level of evidence than the second (See for instance: Geddes, 1999; Singh & Oswald, 2004). It can even be questioned if it is appropriate to use the term "evaluation" in study II. However, a benefit of both studies is that the interventions were carried out in the context were they are supposed to be used in the future, which might help to bridge the gap between research and clinical practice. This might also help professional to find them more useful. Both studies share more of the characteristics of what Weisz and colleagues describe as Clinical Therapy Research in comparison to Research Therapy (Weisz et al., 1995). An overview of the modal Characteristics of Research and Clinical Therapy and Study I and II are displayed in Table 1.

				,
	Research therapy	Clinic therapy	Study I	Study II
Subjects	Recruited	Clinic-referred	Referred	Referred
Group	Homogenous	Heterogeneous	Heterogeneous	Heterogeneous
Problem focus	Narrow	Broad	Broad (DBP)	Broad (DBP)
Research context	Laboratory	Clinics or hospitals	Preschool/ primary school	Psychiatric and/or social services
Treatment by	Researchers- assistants	Clinicians	Clinicians/ Teachers	Clinicians
Therapist case load	Small	Large	Large	Large
Pre treatment preparation	Exhaustive	Limited	Exhaustive(MM)/ Limited (CM)	Limited
Number of session	Fixed	Fewer limits	No limits	Fixed
Treatment method	Single focus	Multimethod, eclectic	Multimethod (MM and CM)	Singel (IYS)
Type of Intervention	Behavioural	Nonbehavioural	Behavioural (MM)/Non- behvioural (CM)	Behavioural

Table 1, Characteristics of Research and Clinic Therapy Research and Study I & II

Weisz and colleagues showed that whereas studies in research-oriented contexts display a typical effect size of .07, the effect size of studies in a clinical context are commonly less than .02 (Weisz et al., 1995). Thus it is important to evaluate effectiveness as well as efficacy when new models are developed. It is certainly questionable if a trial should be done when the group leaders are not yet fully trained and certified in the model, as was the case in Study II, since it might be a threat to the model fidelity, which is an important factor in implementing and practicing manualized evidence based treatments. However the trial resembles the conditions in which the model probably will be used in various clinical contexts most closely, and hence it is an appropriate complement to more stringent studies conducted in an academic research environment. Comparisons of Study II and other IYS studies should also be made cautiously since the children in the present study have been selected based on a clinical assessment that they display disruptive behaviour problems and not on explicit diagnostic criteria of CD or ODD. Their total scores on CBCL were however high, indicating large symptom loads. In addition eighty-one per cent of the children fulfilled the criterion of clinical caseness as suggested by Bilenberg and colleagues (2005). In study II the parents reported significant decreases in problems. However, little is known about generalisations of these improvements, and research suggests that the generalisation effects between different contexts are limited. In light of this, the parents' and teachers' reports of significant decreases

in symptoms at home as well as in school in Study I is noteworthy. We can only speculate about whether this was a result of the fact that there is more of a generalizing effect from an intervention at school on behavior at home than vice versa or whether it was an effect of the systemic work conducted at the coordination meetings.

The need for the development of school-based models has become more evident in recent research. It is also noteworthy that the children in Study I have been rated as having symptom loads on CBCL and CPRS quite comparable with various clinical groups (Botella, Hansen, Janzén, & Thunman, 1995; Kadesjö, 2000) though they were recruited for the intervention at school. This strengthens the argument in favor of the need for school-based interventions as a complement to the clinical services, and urges us to continue to develop treatment models that can be practiced in various settings. Another argument (that is not reported) is that in Study I the mothers rated themselves within the normal range on SCL-90 and SoC while mothers of children attending the child- and adolescent psychiatric services in general have lower ratings on SoC than a normal group (Hansson & Olsson, 2001), and higher ratings on SCL-90 (Botella et al., 1995). It seems as if it has been possible to treat children with heavy symptom loads, whose parents do not themselves feel too worn out or loaded with symptoms, within their normal setting. It is probably much more favourable to promote change under these circumstances. In addition the results also raise an interesting question regarding the children who attend the psychiatric child- and youth services. Maybe becoming a child psychiatric patient is not so much a question of the child's symptom load, as a question of the caregivers' psycho-social situation.

There are some obvious limitations to the intervention studies. First, they were nonrandomized, which implies that the results should be taken cautiously. Second, only paper and - pen measures have been used, which is not fully adequate for exploring and validating such complex interventions. There was, for example a discrepancy between the measures being used in study II and one of the aims of the treatment model. One aim was to promote a more positive parenting behaviour but the paper and pen measures that were used focused largely on symptom change. Observation of parent-child interaction might be a valuable addition to the measures used. In spite of these limitations the intervention studies show that it is possible to promote sizable changes in a substantial subgroup of children who are described as hard to reach and treat. Finally, it is also interesting to note that many of the guiding principles that are used in the parent training were already spelled out in the thinking of the staff at Skå (i.e. a collaborative approach, building on parents' resources, pedagogical elements, learning how to help the children with their homework, how to play with the children, practical advices on how to take care of children, breaking the isolation of the families, and giving the parents practical problem solving skills). Maybe the difference is not *what* to do, but *how* to do it. Today there is a broad agreement that putting children and adolescents with various degrees of DBP together leads to so called deviancy training and thereby increase the risk of iatrogenic effects (Dodge, Dishion, & Lansford, 2006; Snyder, Schrepferman et al., 2005). Thus, the progress that has been made in understanding the complexity of the development of DBP in the past decades has indeed paved the way for tailoring more stringent measures and developing more effective interventions. This is especially true for interventions directed towards the child's environment (parents, teachers and others interacting with children with DBP) in order not to reinforce problematic behaviours.

References

Aarts, M. (1996). Marte meo guide. Harderwijk: Aarts Productions.

- Aarts, M. (2000). Marie meo: Basic manual. Harderwijk: Aarts Productions.
- Achenbach, T. M. (1991). *Manual for the child behavior checklist/4-18 and 1991 profile*. Burlington VT: University of Vermont, Department of Psychiatry.
- Achenbach, T. M., Dumenci, L., & Rescorla, L. A. (2003). DSM-Oriented and empirically based approaches to constructing scales from the same item pool. *Journal of Clinical Child Psychology*, *32*(3), 328-340.
- Achenbach, T. M., McConaughy, S. H., & Howell, C. T. (1987). Child/adolescent behavioral and emotional problems: Implications of cross-informant correlations for situational specificity. *Psychological Bulletin*, 101, 213-232.
- Achenbach, T. M., & Rescorla, L. A. (2000). Manual for the preschool forms & profiles. Burlington, VY: University of Vermont, Research Center for Children, Youth & Families.
- Achenbach, T. M., & Rescorla, L. A. (2001). Manual for the ASEBA school-age forms & profiles. Burlington, VT: University of Vermont, Research Center for Children, Youth & Families.
- Alexander, J. F. (1998). *Blueprints for violence prevention. Functional Family Therapy:* University of Colorado.
- Alink, L. R., Messman, J., van Zeijl, J., Stolk, M. N., Juffer, F., Koot, H. M., Bakermans-Kranenburg, M., & van Ijzendoorn, M. H. (2006). The early childhood aggression curve: development of physical aggression in 10- to 50-month-old children. *Child development*, 77(4), 954-966.
- American Psychiatric Association. (1994). *Diagnostic and statistical manual of mental disorders (4 ed)*. Washington: Author.
- American Psychiatric Association. (2000). DSM-IV-TR. Diagnostic and statistical manual of mental disorders fourth edition, Text revision. Washington, DC: American Psychiatric Association.
- Andersen, T. (1987). The Reflecting Team: Dialogue and Meta-Dialogue in Clinical Work. *Family process*, *26*, 415-428.
- Andersen, T. (1995). Reflecting processes; Acts of informing and forming: You can borrow my eyes, but you must not take them away from me! In S. Friedman (Ed.), *The reflecting team in action, collaborative practice in family therapy* (pp. 11-37). New York: Guilford Press.
- Andershed, H., & Andershed, A.-K. (2005). Normbrytande beteende i barndomen. Vad säger forskningen? Stockholm: Gothia.
- Anderson, H., & Goolishian, H. A. (1992). *Från påverkan till medverkan*. Stockholm: Mareld.
- Antonovsky, A. (1991). Hälsans mysterium. Stockholm: Natur och Kultur.
- Antonovsky, A. (1993). The structure and properties of the Sense of Coherence Scale. *Social Science Medicine*, *36*, 725-733.
- Bandura, A. (1977). Social learning theory. New York: General Learning Press.
- Barkley, R. A. (1988). Child behavior rating scales and checklists. In M. Rutter & A. H. Tuma & I. S. Lann (Eds.), Assessment ond diagnosis in child psychopathology (pp. 113-155). New York: Guilford.
- Barkley, R. A. (1997). *Defiant children A clinician's manual for assessment and parent training*. London: Guilford Press.
- Barlow, J., & Coren, E. (2003). Parent-training programmes for improving maternal psychosocial health. *The Cochrane Database of Systematic Reviews*(4).

- Barlow, J., & Parsons, J. (2005). Group-based parent-training programmes for improving emotional and behavioural adjustment in 0-3 year old children (Review). *The cocrane library; www.thecocranelibrary.com*(2).
- Bennett, K. J., & Offord, D. R. (2001). Screening for Conduct Problems: Does the Predictive Accuracy of Conduct Disorder Symptoms Improve With Age? J Am Acad Child Adolesc Psychiatry, 40(12), 1418-1425.
- Bettge, S., Ravens-Sieberer, U., Wieteker, A., & Holling, H. (2002). Ein Methodenvergleich der Child Behavior Checklist und des Strengths and Difficulties Questionnaire. *Gesundheitswesen, S 1*, S119-S124.
- Bilenberg, N., Petersen, D. J., Hoerder, K., & Gillberg, C. (2005). The prevalence of childpsychiatric disorders among 8-9-year-old children in Danish mainstream schools. Acta Psychiatrica Scandinavica, 111(1), 59-67.
- Boggs, S. R., Eyberg, S., & Reynolds, L. A. (1990). Concurrent validity of the Eyberg child behavior inventory. *Journal of Clinical Child Psychology*, 19(1), 75-78.
- Botella, C., Hansen, N., Janzén, M., & Thunman, M. (1995). Barn, Ungdomar och Familjer på BUP Kartläggning av föräldraskattningar. Vetenskapligt Arbete inom psykoterapiutbildning på familjeterapeutisk grund Landstingen i Uppsala-Örebroregionen. Västerås: Utbildningsenheten psykiatrin i Västmanland.
- Bowlby, J. (1944a). Forty-four juvenile thieves: Their characters and home-life. *Int. J. Psychoanal.*, 25, 19-52.
- Bowlby, J. (1944b). Forty-four juvenile thieves: Their characters and home-life (II). Int. J. Psychoanal., 25, 107-127.
- Bowlby, J. (1949). The study and reduction of group tensions in the family. *Human Relations*, 2, 123-128.
- Bowlby, J. (1969/1982). Attachment, separation and loss (Vol. 1). New York: Basic Books.
- Bremberg, S. (2004). Utgå från föräldrarnas egen syn. *Psykologtidningen*(16), 12.
- Brestan, E. V., & Eyberg, S. M. (1998). Effective psychosocial treatments of conductdisordered children and adolescents: 29 years, 82 studies and 5 272 kids. *Journal of Clinical Child Psychology*, 27, 180-189.
- Bretherton, I. (1991). Pouring new wine into old bottles: The social self as internal working model. In M. Gunnar, R & A. L. Sroufe (Eds.), *Self processes and development, The Minnesota symposia on child development* (Vol. 23). Hillersdale, New Jersey: Earlbaum.
- Broidy, L. M., Nagin, D. S., Tremblay, R. E., Bates, J. E., Brame, B., Dodge, K. A.,
 Fergusson, D., Horwood, J. L., Loeber, R., Laird, R., Lynam, D. R., Moffitt, T. E.,
 Pettit, G. S., & Vitaro, F. V. (2003). Developmental trajectories of childhood
 disruptive behaviors and adolescent delinquency: A sixe-site, cross-national study.
 Developmental Psychology, 39(2), 222-245.
- Brown, T. A., & Barlow, D. H. (2005). Dimensional versus categorical classification of mental disorders in the fifth edition of the diagnostic and statistical manual of mental disorders and beyond: Comment on the special section. *Journal of Abnormal Child Psychology*, 114(4), 551-556.
- Burns, L. G., & Patterson, D. R. (1991). Factor structure of the Eyberg Child Behavior Inventory: Unidimensional or multidimensional measure of disruptive behavior? *Journal of Clinical Child Psychology*, 20, 439-444.
- Burns, L. G., & Patterson, D. R. (2000). Factor structure of the Eyberg Child Behavior Inventory: A parent rating scale of oppositional defiant behavior toward adults, inattentive behavior, and conduct problem behavior. *Journal of Clinical Child Psychology*, 29(4), 569-577.

- Byström, P., Johansson Hanse, J., & Kjellberg, A. (2004). Appraised psychological workload, musculoskeletal symptoms, and the mediating effect of fatigue: A structural equating modeling approach. *Scandinavian Journal of Psychology*, *45*, 331-341.
- Bäck-Wiklund, M., & Bergsten, B. (1997). *Det moderna föräldraskapet*. Falun: Natur o Kultur.
- Calkins, S. (1994). Origins and outcomes of individual differences in emotion regulation. In N. A. Fox (Ed.), *The development of emotion regulation*. (Vol. 59, pp. 53-72): Monographs of the Society for Research in Child Development.
- Campbell, S. B. (2002). *Behavior problems in preschool children: clinical and developmental issues* (2 ed.). New York: The Guilford Press.
- Campbell, S. B., Spieker, S., Burchinal, M., & Poe, M. D. (2006). Trajectories of aggression from toddlerhood to age 9 predict academic and social functioning through age 12. *Journal of Child Psychology and Psychiatry*, 47(8), 791-800.
- Carlberg, M. (1997). Innehåll och kvalitet i den barn- och ungdomspsykiatriska vården (Psykiatriuppföljningen 1997:8). Stockholm: Socialstyrelsen.
- Cederblad, M., & Höök, B. (1991). Östgötastudien. Stressreaktioner och beteendestörningar hos barn på 80-talet i Östergötland. *Rädda barnens rapportserie*.
- Chamberlain, P., & Reid, J. B. (1991). Using a specialized foster care community treatment model for children and adolescents leaving the state mental hospital. *Journal of Community Psychology*, *19*, 266-276.
- Chess, S., & Thomas, A. (1984). Origins and evolution of behavior disorders: From infancy to early adult life. New York: Brunner-Mazel.
- Christensen, S. L., & Conoley, J. C. (1992). *Home-School Collaboration*. Silver Spring: National Association of School Psychologists.
- Christensen, S. L., & Sheridan, S. M. (2001). Schools and Families, Creating Essential Connections to Learning. New York: Guilford Press.
- Chronis, A. M., Chacko, A., Fabiano, G. A., Wymbs, B. T., & Pelham, W. E. (2004). Enhancements to the behavioral parent training paradigm for families of children with ADHD: Review and future directions. *Clinical Child and Family Psychology Review*, 7(1), 1-27.
- Coie, J. D., & Dodge, K. A. (1998). Aggression and antisocial behavior. In W. Damon & N. Eisenberg (Eds.), *Handbook of Child Psychology, Social, Emotional and Personality Development* (Vol. 3, pp. 779-862). Toronto: Wiley.
- Collett, B. R., Ohan, J. L., & Myers, K. M. (2003). Ten-year review of rating scales VI: Scales assessing externalizing behaviors. *Journal of American Academy of Child and Adolescent Psychiatry*, 42(10), 1143-1170.
- Colvin, A., Eyberg, S. M., & Adams, C. D. (1999). *Restandardization of the Eyberg Child Behavior Inventory*. Gainsville, Florida: University of Florida, Child Study Laboratory. Available online at <u>http://www.pcit.org</u>.
- Conners, K. C. (1969). A teacher rating scale for use in drug studies with children. *American Journal of Psychiatry*, 126, 884-888.
- Conners, K. C. (1973). Rating Scales for Use in Drug Studies with Children. *Psychopharmacology of children*, *9*, 24-29.
- Conners, K. C., Sitarenios, G., Parker, J. D. A., & Epstein, J. N. (1997). The revised Conners' parent rating Scale (CPRS-R): Factor structure, reliability, and criterion validity. *Journal of Abnormal Child Psychology*, *26*(4), 257-268.
- Cottrell, D., Hill, P., Walk, D., Dearnaley, J., & Ierotheou, A. (1988). Factors influencing non-attendance at child psychiatry out-patient appointments. *British Journal of Psychiatry*, *152*, 201-204.

- Cunningham, C. E., Brenner, R., & Boyle, M. (1995). Large group community-based parenting programs for families of preschoolers at risk for disruptive behavior disorders: Utilization, cost effectiveness and outcome. *J Child Psychol Psychiat*, *36*, 1141-1159.
- Cunningham, C. E., Brenner, R., & Second, M. (1997). COPE-The community parent education program - A school-based family systems oriented workshop for parents of children with disruptive behavior disorders. Leader's manual. Hamilton: MCMaster University, Faculty of Health Sciences.
- de Los Reyes, A., & Kazdin, A. E. (2004). Measuring informant discrepancies in child research. *Psychological Assessment, 16*(330-334).
- Derogatis, L. R., Lipman, R. S., & Covi, L. (1973). SCL-90: An outpatient psychiatric rating scale preliminary report. *Psychopharm Bull*, *2*, 17-36.
- Dodge, K., Dishion, T., & Lansford, J. (2006). *Deviant peer influences in programs for youth. Problems and solutions*. New York: Guilford Press.
- Duhig, A. M., Renk, K., Epstein, M. K., & Phares, V. (2000). Interparental agreement on internalizing, externalizing, and total behavior problems: A meta-analysis. *Clinical Psychology: Science and Practice*, 7, 435-453.
- Elliott, D. S. (Ed.). (1999). *Blueprints for violence prevention. Center for the study and prevention of violence*: University of Colorado at Boulder.
- Erath, S. A., Bierman, K. L., & Conduct Problems Prevention Research Group. (2006). Aggressive marital conflict, maternal harsh punishment, and child aggressivedisruptive behavior: evidence for direct and mediated relations. *Journal of Family Psychology*, 20(2), 217-226.
- Eresund, P. (1996). *Bråkiga pojkar på PBU*. Stockholm: Omsorgsnämnden Stockholms läns landsting.
- Eresund, P. (1999). *Psykisk barna- och ungdomsvård och de vanartiga barnen*. Stockholm: Omsorgsverksamhetens FoUU-enhet i Stockholms läns landsting.
- Eresund, P. (2002). *Parent training Stöd till föräldrar med hyperaktiva och utagerande barn* (paper): Utvecklings- och Utvärderingsenheten BUP i Stockholms läns landsting.
- Ey, S., Hadley, W., Allen, D. N., Palmer, S., Mosky, J., Deptula, D., Thomas, J., & Cohen, R. (2005). A new measure of children's optimism and pessimism: the youth life orientation test. *Journal of Child Psychology and Psychiatry*, 46(5), 548-558.
- Eyberg, S. M., & Pincus, D. (1999). ECBI Eyberg Child Behavior Inventory and SESBI-R Sutter - Eyberg Student Behavior Inventory - Revised, Professional manual. Odessa, FL: Psychological Assessment Resources, Inc.
- Eyberg, S. M., & Robinson, E. A. (1983). Conduct problem behavior: Standardization of a behavior rating scale with adolescents. *Journal of Clinical Child Psychology*, 12, 347-354.
- Farrington, D. P. (2000). Psychosocial predictors of adult antisocial personality and adult convictions. *Behavioral Sciences and the Law, 18*, 605-622.
- Farrington, D. P. (2005). Childhood origins of antisocial behavior. *Clinical Psychology and Psychotherapy*, *12*, 177-190.
- Flay, B. R., Biglan, A., Boruch, R. F., Castro, F. G., Gottfredson, D., Kellam, S., Moscicki, E. K., Schinke, S., Valentine, J. C., & Ji, P. (2005). Standards of evidence: criteria for efficacy, effectiveness and dissemination. *Prevention Science*, 6(3), 151-175.
- Fonseca, A. C., & Perrin, S. (2001). Clinical phenomenology, classification and assessment of anxiety disorders in children and adolescents. In W. K. Silverman & P. D. A. Treffers (Eds.), Anxiety disorders in children and adolescents - Research, assessment and intervention". Cambridge: Cambridge University Press.

- Forster, M., Sundell, K., Melin, L., Morris, R. J., & Karlberg, M. (2005). Charlie och Komet. Utvärdering av två lärarprogram för elever med beteendeproblem (FoU-rapport 2005:2). Stockholm: Forsknings- och Utvecklingsenheten, Stockholms stadsledningskontor.
- Freud, S. (1980). Orientering i psykoanalys. Stockholm: Natur och kultur.
- Fridell, M., Cesarec, Z., Johansson, M., & Malling Andersen, S. (2002). Symptoms checklist 90, SCL-90, Svensk normering, standardisering och validering av symtomskalan: Statens institutionsstyrelse, SiS.
- Funderburk, B. W., Eyberg, S. M., Rich, B. A., & Behar, L. (2003). Further psychometric evaluation of the Eyberg and Behar rating scales for parents and teachers of preschoolers. *Early Education & Development*, 14(1), 67-80.
- Garcia-Tornel Florensa, S., Calzada, E., Eyberg, S. M., Mas Alguacil, J., Villena Collado H, Gonzalez Garcia, M., Calvo Hernandez, M., & Trinxant Domenech, A. (1998). Eyberg inventory of child behavior. Standardization of the Spanish version and its usefulness in ambulatory pediatrics. *Anales españoles de pediatria, 48*(5), 475-482.
- Gaub, M., & Carlson, C. L. (1997). Gender differences in ADHD: A meta-analysis and critical review. Journal of the American Academy of Child and Adolescent Psychiatry, 36, 1036-1045.
- Geddes, J. (1999). Asking structured and focused clinical questions: Essential first step of evidence-based practice. *Evidence-Based Mental Health*, *2*, 35–36.
- Gerrits, M. H., van den Oord, E. J. C. G., & Voogt, R. (2001). An evaluation of nonresponse bias in peer, self, and teacher ratings of children's psychosocial adjustment. *Journal of Child Psychology and Psychiatry*, 42(5), 593-602.
- Goodman, R. (1999). The extended version of the Strengths and Difficulties Questionnaire as a guide to child psychiatric caseness and consequent burden. *Journal of Child Psychology and Psychiatry*, 40(5), 791-799.
- Goodman, R. (2001). Psychometric properties of the strengths and difficulties questionnaire. Journal of American Academy of Child and Adolescent Psychiatry, 40(11), 1337-1345.
- Goodman, R., Ford, T., Simmons, H., Gatward, R., & Meltzer, H. (2000). Using the Strengths and Difficulties Questionnaire (SDQ) to screen for child psychiatric disorders in a community sample. *British Journal of Psychiatry*, *177*, 534-539.
- Goodman, R., Renfrew, D., & Mullick. (2000). Predicting type of psychiatric disorder from Strengths and Difficulties Questionnaire (SDQ) scores in child mental health clinics in London and Dhaka. *European Child & Adolescent Psychiatry*, *9*, 129-134.
- Goodman, R., & Scott, S. (1999). Comparing the Strengths and Difficulties Questionnaire and the Child Behavior Checklist: is small beautiful? *Journal of Abnormal Child Psychology*, *27*(1), 17-24.
- Gould, M. S., Shaffer, D., & Kaplan, D. (1985). The characteristics of dropouts from a child psychiatry clinic. *Journal of the American Academy of Child Psychiatry*, 24(3), 316-328.
- Goyette, C. H., Conners, K. C., & Ulrich, R. F. (1978). Normative data on revised conners parent and teacher rating scales. *Journal of Abnormal Child Psychology*, 6(2), 221-236.
- Graff, M. (1999). *Insatser for utagerande barn: en teoretisk genomgång av utvärderade program*. Stockholm: Stockholms läns landsting, Centrum för Barn- och Ungdomshälsa.
- Granic, I., & Patterson, G. R. (2006). Toward a comprehensive model of antisocial development: A dynamic systems approach. *Psychological Review*, *113*(1), 101-131.

- Greenberg, M. T. (1999). Attachment and psychopathology in childhood. In J. Cassidy & P. R. Shaver (Eds.), *Handbook of Attachment, Theory, Research and Clinical Applications*. New York: Guilford Press.
- Greenberg, M. T. (2004). Current and future challenges in school-based prevention: The researcher perspective. *Prevention Science*, *5*(1), 5-13.
- Greenberg, M. T., Speltz, M. L., & DeKlyen, M. (1993). The role of attachment in the early development of disruptive behavior problems. *Development and Psychopathology*, *5*, 191-213.
- Greenberg, M. T., Speltz, M. L., DeKlyen, M., & Jones, K. (2001). Correlates of clinic referral for early conduct problems: Variable- and person-oriented approaches. *Development and Psychopathology*, 13, 255-276.
- Gross, D., Fogg, L., Gravey, C., & Julion, W. (2004). Behavior problems in young children: An analysis of cross-informant agreements and disagreements. *Research in Nursing and Health*, 27, 413-425.
- Haley, J., & Hoffman, L. (1967). Techniques of family therapy. New York: Basic Books.
- Hansson, K. (2001). Familjebehandling på goda grunder. En forskningsbaserad översikt. Växjö: Förlagshuset Gothia.
- Hansson, K., & Olsson, M. (2001). Sense of coherence a human endeavour. *Nordisk Psykologi*, *53*(3), 238-255.
- Hay, D., Pawlby, S., Sharp, D., Schmucker, G., Mills, A., Allen, H., & Kumar, R. (1999).
 Parents' judgements about young children's problems: why mothers and fathers might disagree yet still predict later outcomes. *Journal of Child Psychology and Psychiatry*, 40(8), 1249-1258.
- Hedenbro, M., & Wirtberg, I. (2000). Samspelets kraft, Marie meo möjlighet till utveckling. Stockholm: Liber.
- Helzer, J. E., Kraemer, H. C., & Krueger, R. F. (2006). The feasibility and need for dimensional psychiatric diagnoses. *Psychological medicine, Aug 15*, 1-10.
- Henggeler, S. W., Schoenwald, S. K., M, B. C., Rowland, M. D., & Cunningham, P. B. (1998). *Multisystemic treatment of antisocial behavior in children and adolescents*. New York: Guliford Press.
- Hill, L. G., Coie, J. D., Lochman, J. E., & Greenberg, M. T. (2004). Effectiveness of early screening for externalizing problems: issues of screening accuracy and utility. *Journal* of Consulting and Clinical Psychology, 72(5), 809-820.
- Hoffman, L. (1981). Foundations of family therapy, A conceptual framework for systems change. New York: Basic Books.
- Hundeide, K. (1991). *Helping disadvantaged children*. London: Sigma Forlag/Jessica Kingsley.
- Hundeide, K. (2002). Vägledande samspel: Rädda Barnen ICDP Sweden.
- Hylander, I. (2004). Barn kan bli alltför auktoritetsbundna. Psykologtidningen(12), 12.
- Ingoldsby, E. M. (2002). Neighborhood contextual factors and early-starting antisocial pathways. *Clinical Child and Family Psychology Review*(5), 1.
- Jonsson, G. (1973). Att bryta det sociala arvet. Stockholm: Tiden/Folksam.
- Kadesjö, B. (2000). *Neuropsychiatric and neurodevelopmental disorders in a young schoolage population*. Unpublished Doctoral Thesis, University of Göteborg, Gothenburg.
- Kadesjö, B., & Gillberg, C. (1998). Attention deficits and clumsiness in Swedish 7-year-old children. *Developmental Medicine and Child Neurology*, 40, 796-804.
- Kadesjö, C., Kadesjö, B., Hägglöf, B., & Gillberg, C. (2001). ADHD in Swedish 3- to 7-year old children. *Journal of American Academy of Child and Adolescent Psychiatry*, 40, 1021-1028.

- Kazdin, A. E. (1987). Treatment of antisocial behavior in children: Current status and future directions. *Psychological Bulletin*, *102*(2), 187-203.
- Kazdin, A. E. (1994). Psychotherapy for children and adolescents. *Annual Review of Psychology*, *41*, 21-54.
- Kazdin, A. E. (1997). Parent management training: Evidence, outcomes, and issues. *Journal* of American Academy of Child and Adolescent Psychiatry(36), 1349-1356.
- Kazdin, A. E., Esveldt-Dawson, K., French, N. H., & Unis, A. S. (1987). Effects of parent management training and problem-solving skills training combined in the treatment of antisocial child behavior. *Journal of the American Academy of Child and Adolescent Psychiatry*, 26(3), 416-424.
- Kazdin, A. E., & Whitley, M. K. (2006). Comorbidity, case complexity, and effects of evidence-based treatment for children referred for disruptive behavior. *Journal of Consulting and Clinical Psychology*, 74(3), 455-467.
- Keller, T. E., Spieker, S. J., & Gilchrist, L. (2005). Patterns of risk and trajectories of preschool problem behaviors: A person-oriented analysis of attachment in context. *Development and Psychopathology*, 17, 349-384.
- Kendall, P. C. (2000). *Child and adolescent therapy. Cognitive-behavioral procedures*. New York: Guilford Press.
- Kline, R. B. (2005). *Principles and practice of structural equation modeling* (2 ed.). New York: Guilford Press.
- Koops, W., & Orobio de Castro, B. (2004). The development of aggression and its linkages with violence and youth delinquency. *European Journal of Developmental Psychology*, 1(3), 241-269.
- Kopp, S., & Gillberg, C. (2003). Swedish child and adolescent psychiatric out-patients. A five-year cohort. *European Child & Adolescent Psychiatry*, 12, 30-35.
- Kratzer, L., & Hodgins, S. (1997). Adult outcomes of child conduct problems. *Journal of Abnormal Child Psychology*, 25, 65-81.
- Kutcher, S., Aman, M., Brooks, S. J., Buitelaar, J., van Daalen, E., Fegert, J., Findling, R. L., Fisman, S., Greenhill, L. L., Huss, M., Kusumakar, V., Pine, D., Taylor, E., & Tyano, S. (2004). International consensus statement on attention-deficit/hyperactivity disorder (ADHD) and disruptive behaviour disorders (DBDs): Clinical implications and treatment practice suggestions. *European Neuropsychopharmacology*, *14*, 11-28.
- Lagerberg, D., & Sundelin, C. (2000). *Risk och prognos i socialt arbete med barn. Forskningsmetoder och resultat.* Göteborg: Förlagshuset Gothia.
- Lai, K. Y., Chan, T. S., Pang, A. H., & Wong, C. K. (1997). Dropping out from child psychiatric treatment: reasons and outcome. *International Journal of Social Psychiatry*, 43(3), 223-229.
- Landgren, M., Pettersson, R., Kjellman, B., & Gillberg, C. (1996). ADHD, DAMP and other neurodevelopmental/psychiatric disorders in 6-year-old children: epidemiology and comorbidity. *Developmental Medicine and Child Neurology*, *38*, 891-906.
- Larsson, B., & Frisk, M. (1999). Social competence and emotional/behaviour problems in 6-16 year-old Swedish school children. *European Child & Adolescent Psychiatry*, 8, 24-33.
- Leffert, N., Benson, P. L., Scales, P. C., Sharma, A. R., Drake, D. R., & Blyth, D. A. (1998). Developmental assets: Measurement and prediction of risk behaviors among adolescents. *Applied Developmental Science*, 2(4), 209-230.
- Litell, J. (2005). Lessons from a systematic review of effects of multisystemic therapy. *Children and Youth Services Review*, 47, 445-463.

- Litell, J., Popa, M., & Forsythe, B. (2005). Multisystemic Therapy for social, emotional and behavioral problems in youth aged 10-17. *Cochrane Database of Systematic Reviews*(4 Art. No.: CD004797. DOI:10.1002/14641858.CD004797.pub4), 1-42.
- Loeber, R. (1991). Social behaviour: more enduring than changeable? *Academic Journal of Child and Adolescent Psychiatry*, *30*(3), 393-397.
- Lorenz, K. (1966). On aggression. New York: Harcourt.
- Lundahl, B., Risser, H. J., & Lovejoy, M. C. (2006). A meta-analysis of parent training: Moderators and follow-up effects. *Clinical Psychology Review*, 26, 86-104.
- Lyons-Ruth, K. (1996). Attachment relationships among children with aggressive behavior problems: The role of disorganized early attachment patterns. *Journal of Consulting and Clinical Psychology*, *64*, 64-73.
- Lyons-Ruth, K., & Jacobvitz, D. (1999). Attachment disorganization: Unresolved loss, relational violence, and lapses in behavioral and attentional strategies. In J. Cassidy & P. R. Shaver (Eds.), *Handbook of attachment. Theory, research, and clinical applications*. (pp. 520-554). New York: Guilford.
- Malling Andersen, S., & Johansson, M. (1998). *SCL-90 (Symtom checklist). En svensk normering och standardisering.* (3). Lund: Missbruksprojektet vid Institutionen för Tillämpad Psykologi, Lunds universitet.
- Malmberg, M., Rydell, A.-M., & Smedje, H. (2003). Validity of the Swedish version of the Strengths and Difficulties Questionnaire (SDQ-Swe). *Nordic journal of psychiatry*, *57*(357-363).
- Mangione, T. W. (1995). *Mail surveys. Improving the quality. Applied social research methods series* (Vol. 40). Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage Publications.
- Mash, E. J., & Terdal, L. G. (1997). Assessment of child and family disturbance: A behavioral-systems approach. In E. J. Mash & L. G. Terdal (Eds.), *Assessment of childhood disorders*. New York: Guilford Press.
- Mathai, J., Anderson, P., & Bourne, A. (2004). Comparing psychiatric diagnoses generated by the Strengths and Difficulties Questionnaire with diagnoses made by clinicians. *Australian and New Zealand Journal of Psychiatry*, *38*, 639-643.
- Maughan, B., Rowe, R., Messer, J., Goodman, R., & Meltzer, H. (2004). Conduct disorder and oppositional defiant disorder in a national sample: Developmental epidemiology. *Journal of Child Psychology and Psychiatry*, 45(3), 609-621.
- McMahon, R. J., & Estes, A. M. (1997). Conduct problems. In E. J. Mash & L. G. Terdal (Eds.), *Assessment of childhood disorders* (3 ed., pp. 130-193). New York: Guilford.
- Messer, J., Goodman, R., Rowe, R., Meltzer, H., & Maughan, B. (2006). Preadolescent conduct problems in girls and boys. *Journal of American Academy Child and Adolscent Psychiatry*, 45(2), 184-191.
- Minnuchin, S., Montalvo, B., Guerney, B. G., Rossman, B. L., & Schumer, F. (1967). *Families of the slums: An exploration of their structure and treatment.* New York: Basic Books.
- Moffitt, T. E. (1993). Adolescence-limited and life-course-persistent antisocial behavior: A developmental taxonomy. *Psychological Review*, *100*, 674-701.
- Moffitt, T. E. (2003). Life-course persistent and adolescence-limited antisocial behavior: A 10-year research review and a research agenda. In B. B. Lahey & T. E. Moffitt & A. Caspi (Eds.), *Causes of conduct disorder and juvenile delinquency* (pp. 49-75). New York: Guilford Press.
- MTA Cooperative Group. (1999). A 14-month randomized clinical trial of treatment strategies for attention-deficit/hyperactivity disorder. *Archives of General Psychiatry*, 56, 1088-1096.

- Myers, K., & Winters, N. C. (2002). Ten-year review of rating scales. I: Overview of scale functioning, psychometric properties, and selection. *Journal of American Academy of Child and Adolescent Psychiatry*, 41(2), 114-122.
- Mørch, W.-T., Clifford, G., Larsson, B., Rypdal, P., Tjeflaat, T., Lurie, J., Drugli, M. B., Fossum, S., & Reedtz, C. (2004). *The incredible years - The Norwegian Webster-Stratton programme, 1998-2004*: Regionsenter for barn og unges psykisk helse, NTNU; Regionsenter for barn og unges psykisk helse, Universitet i Tromsø; Barnevernets utviklingssenter i Midt-Norge NTNU Samfunnsforskning AS.
- Nagin, D. S., & Tremblay, R. (1999). Trajectories of boys' physical aggression, oppsosition, and hyperactivity on the path to physically violent and nonviolent juvenile delinquency. *Child development*, 70(5), 1181-1196.
- Nathan, P. E., & Langenbucher, J. W. (1999). Psychopathology: Description and classification. *Annual Review of Psychology*, *50*, 79-107.
- Nigg, J. T. (2006). Temperament and developmental psychopathology. *Journal of Child Psychology and Psychiatry*, 47(3-4), 395-422.
- Olsson, M. B., & Hwang, P. C. (2002). Sense of coherence in parents of children with different developmental disabilities. *Journal of Intellectual Disability Research*, 46(7), 548-559.
- Patterson, G. R. (1974). Interventions for boys with conduct problems: multiple settings, treatment and criteria. *Journal of Consulting and Clinical Psychology*, *42*, 471-481.
- Patterson, G. R., & Bank, C. L. (1989). Some amplifying mechanisms for pathologic processes in families. In M. Gunnar & E. Thelen (Eds.), *Minnesota symposia on child psychology, Systems and development* (Vol. 22, pp. 167-209). Hillersdale, NJ: Earlbaum.
- Patterson, G. R., Capaldi, D., & Bank, L. (1991). An early starter model for predicting delinquency. In D. Pepler & K. Rubin (Eds.), *The development and treatment of childhood aggression* (pp. 139–168). Hillsdale, NJ: Erlbaum.
- Patterson, G. R., Debaryshe, B. D., & Ramsey, E. (1989). A developmental perspective on antisocial behavior. *American Psychologist*, 44(2), 329-335.
- Patterson, G. R., Dishion, T., & Chamberlain, P. (1993). Outcomes and methodological issues relating to treatment of antisocial children. In T. R. Giles (Ed.), *Handbook of effective Psychotherapy*, (pp. 43-88). New York: Plenum Press.
- Patterson, G. R., Reid, J. B., & Dishion, T. (1992). Antisocial boys. Eugene, Or: Castalia.
- Pekarik, G., & Stephenson, L. A. (1988). Adult and child client differences in therapy dropout research. *Journal of Clinical Child Psychology*, 17, 316-321.
- Petitt, B., & Olson, H. (1992). *Om svar anhålles En bok om interaktionistiskt förändringsarbete*. Stockholm: Mareld.
- Posserud, M.-B., Lundervold, A. J., & Gillberg, C. (2006). Autistic features in a total population of 7-9 year-old children assessed by the ASSQ (Autism Spectrum Screening Questionnaire). *Journal of Child Psychology and Psychiatry*, 47(2), 167-175.
- Reedtz, C., Bertelsen, B., Lurie, J., Handegård, B. H., Clifford, G., & Morch, W.-T. (Submitted). Eyberg Child Behavior Inventory (ECBI): Norwegian norms to identify conduct problems in children.
- Rescorla, L. A., Achenbach, T. M., Ivanova, M., Dumenci, L., Almqvist, F., Bilenberg, N.,
 Bird, H., Chen, W., Domuta, A., Döpfner, M., Erol, N., Fombonne, E., Fonseca, A. C.,
 Frigerio, A., Grietens, H., Hannesdottir, H., Kanbayashi, Y., Lambert, M., Larsson, B.,
 Liu, X., Leung, P., Metzke, C., Mulatu, M. S., Novik, T., Oh, K.-J., Roussos, A.,
 Sawyer, M. G., Simsek, Z., Steinhausen, H.-C., weisz, J., Weintraub, S., Wolanczyk,
 T., Yang, H.-J., Zukauskiene, R., Zilber, N., & Verhulst, F. (In review). Problem
 reported by parents of children ages 6 to 16 in 30 cultures.

- Richters, J. E., & Waters, E. (1991). Attachment and socialization: The positive side of social influence. In M. Lewis & S. Feinman (Eds.), *Social influences and socialization from infancy* (pp. 185-213). New York: Plenum Press.
- Riksdagens Revisorer. (2001). Familjehemsvården (2001/02:16). Stockholm: Riksdagens Revisorer.
- Robinson, E. A., Eyberg, S. M., & Ross, A. W. (1980). The standardization of an inventory of child conduct problem behaviors. *Journal of Clinical Child Psychology*, *9*, 22-28.
- Romeo, R., Knapp, M., & Scott, S. (2006). Economic cost of severe antisocial behaviour in children and who pays it. *British Journal of Psychiatry*, *188*, 547-553.
- Rowe, R., Maughan, B., Costello, J. E., & Adrian, A. (2005). Defining oppositional defiant disorder. *Journal of Child Psychology and Psychiatry*, 46(12), 1309-1316.
- Rubin, K. H., Burgess, K. B., Dwyer, K. M., & Hastings, E. D. (2003). Predicting preschoolers' externalizing behaviors from toddler temperament, conflict, and maternal negativity. *Developmental Psychology*, 39, 164-176.
- Rutter, M., Giller, H., & Hagell, A. (1998). *Antisocial behavior by young people*: Cambridge University Press.
- Rutter, M., Kim-Cohen, J., & Maughan, B. (2006). Continuities and discontinuities in psychopathology between childhood and adult life. *Journal of Child Psychology and Psychiatry*, 47(3-4), 276-295.
- Rutter, M., Moffitt, T. E., & Caspi, A. (2006). Gene-environment interplay and psychopathology: multiple varieties but real effects. *Journal of Child Psychology and Psychiatry*, 47(3/4), 226-261.
- Rutter, M., & Quinton, D. (1994). Parental psychiatric disorders: effects on children. *Psychological medicine*, 14(853-880).
- Sameroff, A. J. (1983). Developmental systems: Contexts and evolution. In W. Kessen (Ed.), Handbook of child psychology 3rd Ed.: Vol. 1 History, theories and methods (pp. 238-294). New York: Wiley.
- Sameroff, A. J. (2006). General system theories and developmental psychopathology. In D. Cicchetti & D. Cohen (Eds.), *Developmental Psychopathology*, vol 1 (pp. 659-695). New York: Wiley.
- Schaeffer, C. M., Petras, H., Ialongo, N., Masyn, K. E., Hubbard, S., Poduska, J., & Kellam, S. (2006). A comparison of girls' and boys' aggressive-disruptive behavior trajectories across elementary school: prediction to young adult antisocial outcomes. *Journal of Consulting and Clinical Psychology*, 74(3), 500-510.
- Scott, S. (2002). Parent training programmes. In M. Rutter & E. Taylor (Eds.), *Child and adolescent psychiatry* (pp. 949-967). Oxford: Blackwell Science.
- Scott, S., Knapp, M., Henderson, J., & Maughan, B. (2001). Financial cost of social exclusion: follow-up study of antisocial children into adulthood. *British Medical Journal*, 323, 1-5.
- Scott, S., Spender, Q., Doolan, M., Jacobs, B., & Aspland, H. (2001). Multicentre controlled trial of parenting groups for childhood antisocial behaviour in clinical practice. *British Medical Journal*, 323, 1-7.
- Seiffge-Krenke, I., & Kollmar, F. (1998). Discrepancies between mothers' and fathers' perceptions of sons' and daughters' problem behaviour: A longitudinal analysis of parent -adolescent agreement on internalising and externalising problem behaviour. *Journal of Child Psychology and Psychiatry*, 39(5), 687-697.
- Seikkula, J. (1996). Öppna samtal. Från monolog till levande dialog i sociala nätverk. Stockholm: Mareld.
- Seikkula, J., Arnkil, T. E., & Eriksson, E. (2003). Postmodern Society and Social Networks: Open and Anticipation Dialogues in Network Meetings. *Family Process*, 42, 185-203.

- Shaw, D. S., & Bell, R. Q. (1993). Developmental theories of parental contributors to antisocial behavior. *Journal of Abnormal Child Psychology*, 21, 493-518.
- Singh, N. N., & Oswald, D. P. (2004). Evidence-based practice. Part II: A specific methodology. *Journal of Child and Family Studies*, 13(3), 255 262.
- Smedje, H., Broman, J. E., Hetta, J., & von Knorring, A.-L. (1999). Psychometric properties of a Swedish version of the "Strengths and Difficulties Questionnaire". *European Child & Adolescent Psychiatry*, 8(2), 63-70.
- Snyder, J., Cramer, A., Afrank, J., & Patterson, G. R. (2005). The contributions of ineffective discipline and parental hostile attributions of child misbehavior to the development of conduct problems at home and school. *Developmental Psychology*, *41*(1), 30-41.
- Snyder, J., Schrepferman, L., Oeser, J., Patterson, G., Stoolmiller, M., Johnson, K., & Snyder, A. (2005). Deviancy training and association with deviant peers in young children: ocurrence and contribution to early-onset conduct problems. *Development and Psychopathology*, 17, 397-413.
- Sundell, K., Kling, Å., Livheim, F., & Mautner, A. (2005). Komet för föräldrar. Vilka föräldrar deltar, vilka är barnen och vad tycker föräldrarna om Komet? (FoU-rapport 2005:7). Stockholm: Forsknings- och Utvecklingsenheten, Stockholms stadsledningskontor.
- Taylor, E. (1994). Syndromes of attention deficit and overactivity. In M. Rutter & E. Taylor
 & L. Hersov (Eds.), *Child and adolescent psychiatry: Modern approaches*, (3 ed., pp. 285-308). Oxford: Blackwell Scientific.
- Taylor, T. K., Schmidt, F., Pepler, D., & Hodgins. (1998). A comparison of eclectic treatment with Webster-Stratton's parent and children series in a children's mental health center: A randomised controlled trial. *Behavior Therapy*, 29, 221-240.
- Thomas, A., Chess, S., Birch, H. G., Hertzig, M. E., & Korn, S. (1963). *Behavioral individuality in early childhood*. New York: New York University Press.
- Thompson, A., Hollis, C., & Richards, D. (2003). Authoritarian parenting attitudes as a risk for conduct problems. *European Child & Adolescent Psychiatry*, *12*(2), 84-91.
- Tremblay, R. E. (2000). The development of aggressive behaviour during childhood: What have we learned in the past century? *International Journal of Behavioral Development*, 24(2), 129-141.
- Tremblay, R. E., Nagin, D. S., Seguin, J. R., Zoccolillo, M., D, Z. P., Boivin, M., Pérusse, D., & Japel, C. (2004). Physical Aggression During Early Childhood: Trajectories and Predictors. *Pediatrics*, 114(1), e43-e50.
- Treutler, C. M., & Epkins, C. C. (2003). Are discrepancies among child, mother, and father reports on children's behavior related to parents' psychological symptoms and aspects of parent-child relationships? *Journal of Abnormal Child Psychology*, *3*(1), 13-27.
- Waaktaar, T., Borge, A. I. H., Christie, H. J., & Torgensen, S. (2005). Youth-parent consistencies on ratings of difficulties and prosocial behavior: Exploration of an atrisk sample. *Scandinavian Journal of Psychology*, 46, 179-188.
- Walker, H. M., Colvin, G., & Ramsey, E. (1995). Antisocial behaviour in school: Strategies and Best Practices. New York: Brooks-Cole.
- van de Wiel, N., Matthys, W., Cohen-Kettenis, P. C., & van Engeland, H. (2002). Effective treatments of school-aged conduct disordered children: recommendations for changing clinical and research practices. *European Child & Adolescent Psychiatry*, 11, 79-84.
- van Dijken, S. (1998). John Bowlby: His early life. New York: Free association books.
- Watzlawick, P., Beavin Bavelas, J., & Jackson, D. D. (1967). *Pragmatics of human communication*. New York: Norton.
- Webster-Stratton, C. (2001). *The parent and children series, a comprehensive course divided into four programs Leaders guide*. Seattle: The Incredible Years.

- Webster-Stratton, C., & Reid, J. M. (2002). *The Incredible Years Classroom Management Teacher Training Program: Content, Methods, and Process*. Unpublished manuscript, University of Washington, Seattle.
- Webster-Stratton, C., & Reid, J. M. (2003). The Incredible Years parents, teachers, and children training series. In A. E. Kazdin & J. R. Weisz (Eds.), *Evidence based psychotherapies for children and adolescents*. New York: Guilford Press.
- Webster-Stratton, C., & Reid, J. M. (2004). Strengthening social and emotional competence in young children — The foundation for early school readiness and success Incredible years classroom social skills and problem - solving curriculum. *Infants and Young Children, 17*(2), 96-113.
- Webster-Stratton, C., & Spitzer, A. (1996). Parenting a young child with conduct problems. In T. H. Ollendick & R. J. Prinz (Eds.), *Advances in Clinical Psychology* (Vol. 18, pp. 1-62). New York: Plenum Press.
- Webster-Stratton, C. H. (2000). The incredible years training series. *OJJDP Bulletin Review*, 1-24.
- Webster-Stratton, C. H., & Hammond, M. (1997). Treating children with early-onset conduct problems: A comparison of child and parent training interventions. *Journal of Consulting and Clinical Psychology*, 65(1), 93-109.
- Webster-Stratton, C. H., & Taylor, T. (2001). Nipping early risk factors in the bud: preventing substance abuse, delinquency, and violence in adolescence through interventions targeted at young children (0-8 Years). *Prevention Science*, *2*(3), 165-192.
- Weiner, A., Kuppermintz, H., & Guttman, D. (1994). Video home training (the Orion project): A short-term preventive and treatment intervention for families with young children. *Family process*, 33(4), 441-455.
- Weisz, J. R. (2000). Agenda for child and adolescent psychotherapy research. On the need to put science into practice. *Archives of General Psychiatry*, *57*, 837-838.
- Weisz, J. R., & Jensen, A. L. (2001). Child and adolescent psychotherapy in research and practice contexts: Review of the evidence and suggestions for improving the field. *European Child & Adolescent Psychiatry*, 10(1), 1/10-11/18.
- Weisz, J. R., Weiss, B., Donenberg, G. R., & Han, S. S. (1995). Bridging the gap between laboratory and clinic in child and adolescent psychotherapy. *Journal of Consulting and Clinical Psychology*, *63*, 688-701.
- Werner, E. E. (2000). Protective factors and individual resilience. In J. P. Shonkoff & S. J. Meisels (Eds.), *Handbook of Early Childhood Intervention*. Cambridge: Cambridge University Press.
- White, M., & Epston, D. (1990). *Narrative means to therapeutic ends*. New York: Norton & Company.
- Widiger, T. A., & Samuel, D. B. (2005). Diagnostic categories or dimensions? A question for the Diagnostic and Statistical Manual of mental disorders - fifth edition. *Journal of Abnormal Psychology*, 114(4), 494-504.
- Wiklund, I., Gorkin, L., Pawitan, E., Schron, E., Schoenberger, J., Jared, L. L., & Schumaker, S. (1992). Methods for assessing quality of life in the cardiac arrhythmia suppression trial (CAST). *Quality of Life Research*, 1, 187-201.
- Wilson, S. J. (2003). The effects of school-based intervention programs on aggressive behavior: A meta-analysis. *Journal of Consulting and Clinical Psychology*, 71(1), 136-149.
- Wirtberg, I., & Axberg, U. (2006). Samordning mellan föräldrar och lärare med hjälp av det reflekterande samtalet. In H. Eliassen & J. Seikkula (Eds.), *Reflekterende prosesser i praksis*. Oslo: Universitetsforlaget.

- World Health Organization. (1992). *The international classification of mental and behavioural disorders: Clinical descriptions and diagnostic guidelines, l0th edition (ICD-10)*. Geneva: WHO.
- Youngstrom, E., Loeber, R., & Stouthamer-Loeber, M. (2000). Patterns and correlates of agreement between parent, teacher, and male adolescent ratings of externalizing and internalizing problems. *Journal of Consulting and Clinical Psychology*, 68(6), 1038-1050.
- Zoccolillo, M., Tremblay, R., & Vitaro, F. (1996). DSM-III-R and DSM-III criteria for conduct disorder in preadolescent girls: specific but insensitive. *Journal of American Academy Child and Adolscent Psychiatry*, *35*, 461-470.
- Øvreeide, H., & Hafstad, R. (1996). The marte meo method and developmental supportive dialogues. Haarderwiijk: Aarts productions.